

# MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY CRICKET CLUB



ANNUAL REPORT 1989-90 SEASON

# CONTENTS

OFFICE BEARERS	1.
PAST OFFICE BEARERS	2.
CLUB AWARDS 1988-1989	3.
CLUB COLOUR AWARDS	4.
PRESIDENT'S REPORT	5.
SECRETARY'S REPORT	8.
COMMITTEE MEETINGS	10.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	11.
TREASURER'S REPORT	14.
UNDER 24 COMPETITION	16.
UNIVERSITY CHALLENGE CUP	17.
FIFTH GRADE	18.
CAPTAIN'S REPORT - A SHIRES	19.
CAPTAIN'S REPORT - B SHIRES	24.
CAPTAIN'S REPORT - C SHIRES	32.
CAPTAIN'S REPORT - D SHIRES	41.
TOUR REPORT	54.
THIRD GRADE RECORDS	57.
FOURTH GRADE RECORDS	59.
A SHIRES RECORDS	61.
B SHIRES RECORDS	65.
C SHIRES RECORDS	67.
D. SHIRES RECORDS	72.
CLUB RECORDS	74.
CURRENT PLAYERS - 10 GAMES MINIMUM	78.

# MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY CRICKET CLUB

# PATRON

M.R. Gwilliam

### PRESIDENT

A Davies

# VICE-PRESIDENT

C. Anderson

# HONORARY SECRETARY

A. Mahoney

# ASSISTANT HONORARY SECRETARY

S. Jurd

# HONORARY TREASURER

C. Welsby

# COMMITTEE

- K. Dixon
- C. Edwards
- W. Folkard
- C. Kendall
- P. Lenard
- K. Wiblin

# LIFE MEMBERS

- L. Ager
- P. Barclay
- G. Blues
- I. Blyth
  M.J. Denlow
- W. Folkard
- P. Garty
- J. Giuffre

- R. Gwilliam
- B. Jones
- A. Mahoney
- P. Miller
- R. Vagg C. Welsby
- S. Wiblin
- J. Wickham

# PAST OFFICE BEARERS

# PRESIDENT

1967 - 69	R. Vagg
1969 - 79	M.R. Gwilliam
1979 - 80	R. Vagg
1980 - 83	J. Wickham
1983 - 89	W. Folkard
1989 –	A. Davies

# HONORARY SECRETARY

1967 - 69 1969		Saunders Barclay
1969 - 72		Slack
1972 - 73	Κ,	Henry
1973 - 74	D.	Rutledge
1974 - 75	A.	Faulks
1975 - 76	Ρ.	Barclay
1976 – 79	J.	Wickham
1979 – 80	В.	Jones
1980 - 81	P.	Garty
1981 –	Α.	Mahoney

# HONORARY TREASURER

1967 -	69	Ρ.	Barclay
1969 -	72	P.	Korbel
1972 -	74	Μ.	Hoban
1974 -	75	D.	Rutledge
1975 -	77	Ρ.	Korbel
1977 -	78	G.	Leary
1979 -		C.	Welsby

# CLUB AWARDS 1989-1990

M.R. Gwilliam Most Improved Clubman Pewters	Shield	M. K. B. I. P.	Jessup Ercelenk Dixon Brien Hort Jessup Notaras Reilly Ramsland
		Μ.	Ramsland
		М.	Warren
	¥.5	D.	Welsby

The M.R. Gwilliam Shield, a gift from the President of the Club who served from 1969 to 1979, is awarded annually to the most outstanding cricketer in the club. Previous winners are:

### UNIVERSITY BLUES

Blues are awarded by the University to sportsmen and women for outstanding sporting achievement. Performance standards are set by clubs and approved by the University Blues Committee. For Cricket, a Full Blue requires State representation whilst a Half Blue requires either 500 runs or 50 wickets in the Club's highest team. Current student status is also necessary.

Previous awardees are:

Full	Blue	Half	Bl	ue
1971	K. Mackay	1970 1971 1972 1972 1977 1978 1985 1988	F. J. P. L. P.	Redden Alley Giuffre Miller Ager Bourke Welsby Blyth

# UNIVERSITY CLUB COLOUR AWARDS

In 1980 the University instituted the award of Club Colour to be presented to men and women who have made an outstanding contribution to Macquarie University Sport, through their respective Clubs, from an administrative or organisational viewpoint. Cricket Club members who have received this award are:

1980	P. Barclay G. Blues M.R. Gwilliam P. Miller R. Vagg
1981	A. Faulks K. Henry
1983	G. Hargreaves B. Jones
1984	C. Welsby J. Wickham
1987	A. Mahoney

# PRESIDENT'S REPORT

The ramifications of the successful 1989 Australian Tour of England were felt at Macquarie's first training run. As was suggested by some of the Club's 'old timers' an Ashes Victory excites the public and rekindles an interest in the game. In an attempt to cater for an excess of players the Club organised several fixtues for its fifth X1. The enthusiasm of these 'new players' was contagious and influenced many of the more seasoned players. If the spin-off effect of a successful Ashes Tour can revitalize the game at a macro-level then it leads me to wonder what effect a grand final win would have at a micro-level (i.e. within the Club).

As in every sport 'to be victors go the spoils' and second best is often deemed a failure. Despite not having won a flag this year the Club has excelled in many facets of the game. Without revealing too much of what is to follow, I feel compelled to highlight some of the Club's successes during this past season. It is not surprising that many of the more notable performances belong to the minor premiers 'D' Grade. Under the guidance of Al Mahoney this team benefitted directly from the influx of new players and the pressure exerted on them by performances in our fifth X1. Barry Brien bowled his way into the Club's record books with the best ever figures, for a player in any grade, of 8 wickets for 8 runs. Al Mahoney (94 runs) and Bruce Hort (131), in a 206 run spree, recorded the Club's first partnership over 200 runs. Al belted 467 runs to achieve a new D Grade batting aggregate, Mark Ramsland (39 wickets) established a new D Grade bowling aggregate and Mutlu Ercelenk took out the Club's 'most improved' award with significant contributions.

Other performances of note include this season's Gwilliam Shield winner, Ian Jessup, who compiled 732 runs to become the Club's 2nd highest run scorer in a season. Bill Yeo gave 25 batsmen directions to the pavilion this season and in doing so created a new B Grade record for the number of dismissals (22 caught, 3 stumped) but not for the number of directions.

Both Steve O'Reilly and Paul Notoras recorded centuries and Craig Edwards, picked up 8 for 57 on a dodgy track.

The 1990-91 season heralds the start of a new decade and with it the challenges of bettering last season's successes and establishing the Club as a front-runner in Shires Cricket. As excited as I am about these prospects it would be remiss of me if I did not publicly acknowledge the extra-ordinary efforts of the Club's stalwarts over the past decade. I alluded to them earlier as the 'old timers' but that was merely tongue-in-cheek and meant to indicate their length of involvement in the Club. I am of course referring to Chris Welsby, Alan Mahoney and Warrick Folkard whose herculean efforts have carried the Club through the 80's.

Chris is the current Club Treasurer, a position he has held since 1979, he has played in over 180 games, compiled over 5,000 runs and captained many teams. Warrick was Club President for six seasons. He remains an active Committee Member, an enthusiastic cricketer and a ruthless equipment officer. Al has carried the mantle of Club Secretary for the past nine seasons. Along with captaining D Grade this season he has become the father, teacher and mentor of one hyperactive kid - Andrew. In what has been a job well done I ask these 'old timers' to stand up and accept the accolades of the Club.

In five day's time there will be a group of cricketers wearing the Club Colours on fields as far away as Oxford, Birmingham and Swansea. As Club President I would like to wish all of those who are going a successful trip and hope that the experience and knowledge that they obtain in the U.K can be injected into the club next season, as Tour Manager I must thank the Club for its support and all members for their attendance at the functions.

MUCC offers a host of social events throughout the season in the hope of fostering club spirit and nurturing friendship. It is important that players continue to support these functions and no one should hesitate in offering suggestions of lending assistance in the running of the event. One person who has shone in this capacity over the past two seasons is this year's Clubman Award Winner, Ken Dixon. If a message had to be shouted out then Ken would do it, if two hot dogs needed eating or dropped-catch money collected, or scores read out or Satay's eaten .... Ken would do it. A big thank you to a big man. Thanks must also go to Craig Anderson (Iron Ando, Craigy, C.A., Chips) for his assistance in some of the above but mainly for his decision to leave the state.

Seriously folks, Craig's move to South Australia will be a big blow to the club because of his high (not necessarily in stature) profile as a player and more importantly for his willingness to get involved. Along with playing over 90 games he has served on the Committee for a number of years, held the post of Vice-President, and captained Macquarie teams. The club would like to wish him all the best down in Grand Prix's city as well as book the lounge room floor for early November. I would also, on behalf of the club, like to pass on congratulations to Chris and Jeanette Welsby, Colin and Julia Kendall, Al and Judy Mahoney and Craig Edwards and Sandra on their weddings, births and engagements during the season. As well as acknowledging Ken Wiblin's milestone of reaching one hundred games with the Club.

Just before the opening bowler takes the new ball and measures his run up at the start of the 1990-91 season spare a thought for the Committee, the people who give up many hours of their spare time just to get you guys out in the middle. The paperwork and phone calls, the mending and buying of equipment, working bees and training sessions are just some of the tasks undertaken by the Committee. At this point I would like to thank all who contributed to the organisation of the Club throughout the season and look forward to their continuing involvement.

In closing may I remind you of the Ashes Victory and the interest that it generated in our game. The "spin-off" effects that it had at our level of cricket may be debated but the fact is that we unearthed some awesome talent this season. The Mark Ramsland's, Glen McFadden's and Richard Mather's are students with a bright future at our Club. If we can attract three more players of this calibre then we will be doing exceptionally well. If we can unearth three more Mutlu's who may take a season or two to mature as players then, we will likewise be doing well. I guess the bottom line for each and every one of you is to spread the word, encourage involvement and to set your sights on a successful season and a huge decade.

Alan Davies

### SECRETARY'S REPORT

Gentlemen, I have pleasure in presenting my eighth report as Honorary Secretary of Macquarie University Cricket Club.

The 1989/90 season was, from a performance viewpoint, ultimately very disappointing. The final finishing position of each team was as follows:

A Division 9th
B Division 5th
C Division 12th
D Division 2nd

The Club finished 6th in the Club Championship. You will find elsewhere in this report a comprehensive analysis of the performance of each team. To summarise: A Division, 7th in 1988/89, won their first 3 games of the season and from that point performance deteriorated. B Division improved from 8th in season 1988/89. On their performance over the last 3 games of the 1989/90 season this team was capable of defeating any opposition yet a slow start saw them just miss out on the semi finals. C Division were a major disappointment and relied very heavily on Captain, Ian Jessup's talents. Once Ian was promoted mid-season they did not look like winning too many more games.

D Division had a remarkable season finishing as undefeated minor premiers only to lose a farcical final to Burwood. A significant improvement, however, on the 12th place of season 1988/89.

I wrote in my report last season upon the need to raise the Club's profile on campus. Considering that over 80 cricketers attended pre-season training I believe that some progress has been made in achieving this goal. However, we must make an ongoing effort to attract as many new student players as possible. At the recent Sports Association Blues Dinner the inaugural Club of the Year Award was presented to the Boardsailing Club which has some 400 members. Whilst for some of these people the only activity is partying, the number of members does indicate a high level of awareness of the Club on It should follow that a Club's sporting achievements campus. are improved if there is a larger number of people to draw upon and importantly if particiaption in the Club is seen as being enjoyable. This is reflected in some fine sporting achievements by the Boardsailing Club over the past couple of years.

The Cricket Club's main priority is, of course, fielding 4 competitive teams each week of the season. To meet our on-field needs I believe that serious consideration must be given to broadening our non-cricket activities in terms of both on campus activities and the involvement of wives and girlfriends in the Club's social functions. It is also time to again consider the value of fostering a women's cricket team.

You will read elsewhere in this report about the preparation of the Club's United Kingdom Tour. The touring party departs on 23rd June for a 14 match schedule over a 4 week period. On behalf of all Cricket Club members I would like to wish the party the best of luck for a successful and enjoyable tour. It is also appropriate to record the Club's thanks to the Sports Association for its financial support of the tour. My final comment relating to the tour is to express my hope that the organising committee approach the Cricket Club's ongoing needs with the same enthusiasm that they have shown towards ensuring the tour is a success.

In January, 1990 the Golf Driving Range commenced operation on the University Oval, initially on a two year lease. proposal met with sufficient, but not unanimous, support from both the Executive of the Sports Association and Sports On the evidence of the events that took Committee to proceed. place from January to the end of the season the advent of the Golf Practice Range has the potential to be the most damaging and significant event to ever effect Cricket Club activities. We have seen the resignation of both the Head Groundsman and his second-in-charge as a direct consequence of the introduction of this facility. I must record that Charlie Seaton's and Peter Wells' resignation cost the Cricket Club a D Grade Premiership. The acting Head Groundsman was demonstrably incompetent in preparing an appalling wicket for the final. Full details of the match are recorded elsewhere in this report. The University main Oval wicket and practice wickets have noticeably dropped in standard since the Golf Driving Practice Range came into being, simply through lack of preparation. The same acting Head Groundsman has said that the Cricket Club should not have turf practice wickets as we do not play a sufficiently high standard of cricket. This matter and others relating to the Golf Driving Practice Range have been brought to the attention of both the President and Executive Officer of the Sports Association. remains to be seen whether the problems are rectified.

As I will not be seeking re-election as Honorary Secretary for season 1990/91 it is appropriate to reflect upon the Club's achievements over the 8 years that I have been Secretary and to say a few thank yous.

Administratively, the Club has made considerable progress. We have purchased covers, nets for practice wickets, and a storage container, our equipment is excellent and financially we are in a very strong position.

It has been my privilege to work with a number of dedicated and selfless committeemen who have managed the success of our Club. Particular recognition and thanks must go to Chris Welsby, our long serving Treasurer and Warrick Folkard our immediate past President. Our Club has indeed been most fortunate to have been served by two such outstanding administrators.

Over the past 8 years we have seen turf practice wickets laid and a new oval constructed. Thanks are due to the Sports

Association for their continuing support. On a personal level I would like to thank the Sports Association Executive Officer, Bob Lawton and his various staff who have, over the years, been most co-operative and of great assistance to me in the performance of the duties of Honorary Secretary.

Our playing performance does not match our administrative performance. It is now 5 seasons since we left the disappointment and frustration of Grade Cricket behind. In those 5 season our best results have been runners-up in C Division in 1987/88 and D Division this season. C Division finished 3rd in 1985/86. No other team has every made the semi-finals.

Macquarie University have the potential to be the dominant Club in Municipal and Shires Cricket. To do this requires the following:

- \* attracting students who presently play grade cricket by lifting our profile on campus,
- \* increase our level of commitment to skills training,
- \* make what the Club does off the field more enjoyable and relevant to everybody.

The Club's long term goals remains to become a first grade Club. Given the Sydney Cricket Association's present policies this goal will not be reached in the immediate future. However, the opportunity will eventually come. To be ready we must be prominent by ensuring we are a force in Municipal and Shires Cricket.

In conclusion, one final thank you to my wife Jude without whose love and support my work as Secretary would not have been possible.

### Allan Mahoney

### COMMITTEE MEETINGS

During the 1989-90 season the Committee met on 10 occasions. Attendances were as follows:

Α.	Davies	10
s.	Jurd	10
К.	Dixon	10
W.	Folkard	10
C.	Welsby	9
P.	Lenard	9
C.	Kendall	8
Κ.	Wiblin	8
C.	Anderson	7
A.	Mahoney	6
C.	Edwards	6

# STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH APRIL 1990

2,486 1,856 200 450 1,599 1,710 1,181	INCOME Funds Provided by Macquarie University S.A. Annual Dinner Clothing Sales Cricket Association Rebate Interest Received Membership to MUSA Socials (net) Subscriptions	2,610,00 2,069.00 83 1,000.00 2,346.80 1,357.00 1,004.02 2,472.00 12,941.82
	LESS EXPENDITURE	
1,975 1,718 588 235 519	Equipment Purchased from MUSA funds Annual Dinner Membership to MUSA Presentations Printing, Telephone and Bank Charges Purchase of Equipment Subsidy for U.K. Tour	2,610.00 2,711.00 1,442.00 722.80 858.10 2,066.10 3,000.00 13,410.00
(\$3,887)	DECREASE IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS	\$ 468.18
	BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30TH APRIL, 1990	
2,000 3,065 1,500 3,688 80	ASSETS Deposit in Hambros Cash Management Trust Australian Savings Bonds - Series 22 @ 14.75% National Australia Bank: - 90 Day Deposit due 22/6/90 @ 15.25% - 30 Day Deposit due 27/5/89 @ 13.5% Current Account State Bank Current Account NET ASSETS	7,870.69 0.00 3,594.36 1,736.19 3,295.82 80.53 16,577.59
•	REPRESENTED BY: Accumulated Funds as at 1st May, 1988 Less Decrease in Accumulated Funds as per Income and Expenditure Statement	17,045.77 (468.18) \$16,577,59

# MACQUARIE UNIVERSITY CRICKET CLUB STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL, 1990

CASH AT BANK OR ON DEPOSIT 1ST MAY, 1989		17,045.77
ADD RECEIPTS		
Funds for Equipment provided by MUSA Annual Dinner Clothing Sales Cricket Association Rebate Interest Received Socials Subscriptions Subscriptions - MUSA	2,610.00 2,069.00 83.00 1,000.00 2,346.80 4,001.05 2,472.00 1,357.00	15,938.85 \$32,984.62
LESS EXPENDITURE		
Equipment Purchased Ex Funds from MUSA Annual Dinner Equipment Purchased Presentations Printing, Stationery and Telephone Socials Subscriptions MUSA Subsidy for U.K. Tour Cash at Bank or on Deposit 30th April 199	2,610.00 2,711.00 2,066.10 722.80 858.10 2,997.03 1,442.00 3,000.00	16,407.03 \$16,577.59
REPRESENTED BY:		
National Bank Australia  - Current Account  - 90 Day Deposit due 22/6/1990 @ 15.25%  - 30 Day Deposit due 27/5/1990 @ 13.5% State Bank Current Account Deposit in Hambros/Equitable Cash Manageme	3,295.82 3,594.36 1,736.19 nt Trust	8,626.37 80.53 7,870.69 \$16,577.59

C.M. Welsby Hon. Treasurer

# SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- These financial accounts have been prepared on the basis of historical costs and do not take into account changing money values.
- 2. Interest has been brought to account as it is credited to the various accounts.
- 3. Expenses incurred but not yet invoiced have been accrued on the basis of best available information.
- 4. Funds provided by Macquarie University Sports Association for use by Macquarie University Cricket Club are accounted for on a calandar year basis.
- 5. Equipment purchased by the Club is expensed in the year of purchase.

# TREASURER'S REPORT

The 1989/90 season was one of commitment to the United Kingdom Tour. The deficit for the year of \$468.18 was caused mainly through the sponsorship of \$3,000 as a direct grant to the tour committee. This grant was approved at the 1989 Annual General Meeting. As well as the \$3,000 direct sponsorship I would estimate that in excess of a further \$1,200 in surplus was forgone as the touring committee was conducting the larger social events for the year.

I wish the touring side a great time in the U.K. and I only wish that I was there as well. My work commitments however don't allow this.

It is very interesting to note the reliance the Club has on the interest factor. Interest on investments now almost equals the income raised through membership subscriptions.

The Club purchases of equipment increased dramatically this year. A new cover for the top oval (\$749), container storage enhancements (\$264) and overspending of Sports Association Budget by \$922 were the major areas of increase.

The Club will also send funds to the U.K. with the touring side to attempt to acquire good equipment at prices well below Australian levels. This equipment will be expenses next year if any purchases do in fact occur.

I have not taken into account any stock on hand as the existing has been around for some time and its value would be very low indeed, I also do not know of any further Creditors (after the current group of cheques have been distributed) that haven't been taken up in the accounts.

The Club's investment in Commonwealth Bonds matured in December 1989 and these funds were used to subsidise the U.K. Tour. Basically all the Club's assets are now held in a Cash Management Trust, in Bank Accounts or on deposit with the National Australia Bank.

In the near future may I suggest the Club look into two major items:

- 1. a container of some description for the top fields, and
- 2. sightboards for the top field.

The container could be a joint purchase with another Club or an outright purchase by ourselves.

I would like to thank the Macquarie University Sports Association for both their assistance and excellent quality of the facilities at the Sportsfields. Without both of these the Club's financial position wouldn't be in the healthy state it currently is. My thanks must also go to the people working constantly, arranging socials, serving behind the bar, supplying the endless streams of food. Without these people who receive little thanks the Club wouldn't run as smoothly.

Let's all look forward to next season and hitch a ride on the enthusiasm of the U.K. Tourists. With this mateship and enthusiasm, next year could be a very big year for Macquarie.

Yours in sport.

Chris Welsby Honorary Treasurer

# THE UNDER 24 COMPETITION

The generally disappointing performance of the Under 24 team this season tended to reflect the nature of the Club's playing structure as it presently stands. Very few of the younger brigade have as yet forced their way consistenly and strongly into the higher grades. As a result, our under 24's could at best boast only one or possibly two higher grade players, even then players who as yet haven't played any substantial A Grade cricket. Because we have no feeder-relationship with a junior association and an obvious excess of players, especially this past season, this competition was a perfect avenue for playing many of these players.

This does <u>not</u> mean that the teams in this competition were selected with an 'expendable' or 'sacrifical' approach. The major problem this season was that our 'senior' players just did not fire. Whether this was due to a defeatest attitute, or a lack of ability to rise to the occasion, or lack of resolution or just lack of ability, I'm not quite sure. Experienced or senior players <u>must</u> perform, especially when a side composes younger, less experienced players from D Grade and 'fifths'.

Problems with the Under 24s were quickly raised in round one in the game against Lane Cove. For any side to be chasing a score of 340 in any match, let alone a sixty-over match, is a major 'challenge'. Our bowling figures make tragic reading. Our first four bowlers had all played either a little A Grade or quite a bit of B Grade cricket, so inexperience was not an adequate explanation. We just bowled terribly. Richard Mather (32) and Andrew Harrison (22) struck some lusty blows in our reply of 117 but no-one played a major innings. To be fair, Lane Cove's fielding was superb. They are indeed a fortunate club to have so many of their young players already playing B Grade cricket or higher, an enviable situation for this competition.

The second round match against Lindfield coincided with the Club's Harbour Cruise day and one can only gauge that the team must have wished they too were also on the cruise. They won the toss on a warm day, batted and were dismissed for 31. Enough said.

Round three against Warringah also resulted in a loss but at least we were far more competitive. Glen McFadden (24) and Steve Bateman (16) fought hard to overcome a very tight Warringah attack but just couldn't quite dominate. Warringah again, were able to boast a few higher grade players in their team. In Warringah's innings McFadden picked up 2-2 to complete a good match double. Mutlu Ercelenk bowled without an ounce of luck and returned figures which didn't do justice to his bowling.

Under 24's is a hard competition. We presently have no junior teams in our Club's situation. This year we have blooded several players who, if they persevere, are eligible to play in the competition for six to seven years. Already some of these players have made their way into our club from this competition. To succeed, we need our young players to perform in higher grades so as to perform and confidently lead the way in the U24's.

# Warrick Folkard

# UNIVERSITY CHALLENGE SHIELD

In the past several seasons, Inter-Varsity Cricket has not attracted the interest nor the level of participation that it deserves. Like most Universities we have failed to take advantage of the opportunities associated with Inter-Varsities. These opportunities incorporate a week of rugged competition and some awesome socialising.

In an attempt to make these occasions more accessible to students it was decided to try and establish an annual competition amongst local Universities. Although the turn-out, on the day, was not as we had hoped the response was very positive. Both Wollongong and Sydney sent apologies and expressed an interest in competing in next season's knock-out competition and Newcastle, U.NSW and Macquarie will all compete again.

The sun rose, the coin was tossed and the game between Macquarie and Newcastle began. Well, it would have started immediately if all the players had arrived on time. The entourage from Newcastle, who arrived on Saturday were given a guided tour of the Cross by Todd Ritchie but found the morning trip from his three-storey mansion at Wollstonecraft to North Ryde too much. The rest of the team either lived in an area that suffered a power failure, got caught in bumper to bumper traffic on the F3 or had two flat tyres. Amongst the best Macquarie excuses for being late were as follows:

Silver was detained because he 'couldn't catch a wave back to shore';

Prince Charming was 'busy saving damsels in distress' and Tiger O'Reilly was on safari.

From the moment the ball left the bowler's hand and hit the turf this match hung in the balance. In a colossal struggle that pushed all players to the limits of their cricketing skills it was Macquarie that won through. In the deciding game a composite Macquarie and Newcastle team took on the Randwick Ragers. Another testing game that saw the lads from U.NSW take home the University Challenge Shield.

Although a little disappointed at not being able to retain the shield that Macquarie Cricket Club donated, it is hoped that Macquarie have at least started a tradition, a tradition that will bring together students from various Universities throughout New South Wales and present them with the opportunity to develop friendships and enhance their cricketing skills.

# Alan Davies

# FIFTH GRADE

A high influx of players this year saw the Club with over 90 players on its books. In an attempt to try and accommodate as many players as possible each match, the Club formed a Fifth Grade team which played on certain Sundays throughout the season.

The playing talent for the team was excellent with many of the players being capable of performing well in D Grade. Many of the players did in fact go on to play D Grade (Dave Butler, Mal Patterson, Darren Welsby, Blair Read and Reg Carney).

Some of the highlights of the Fifth Grade season are as follows:

- a resounding win over a mostly B & C Grade Roseville team in our first game
- fine new ball bowling by Blair Read and Darren Welsby
- excellent batting by Steve Bateman, Reg Carney and Paul Wyllie
- and good leadership from Bernard Dunne

I believe the Fifth Grade team has enabled the Club to keep some good cricketers that would have otherwise been lost. The enthusiasm shown in the Sunday games is a lesson to many higher grade teams and hopefully the Club will be in the position to run a similar team next season.

Ken Dixon Fifth Grade Co-ordinator

# CAPTAIN'S REPORT - A SHIRES

The 1989/90 season was one that promised much but delivered little. The side again finished in the middle of the field but would have reached the finals if it had played to its ability.

There were many positive elements which emerged this season however. The influx of new talent into the Club saw two new faces in A Grade during the year. Both Richard Mather and Todd Ritchie will make valuable future contributions to the Club. It is also heartening to see the return of 3 ex-Macquarie stalwarts who all played A Grade during the year. John Steenkamp, Paul Notaras and Andrew Lindsay all performed well and showed just how much their talents were missed.

Our bowlers generally were very effective throughout the season. Greg Brown, Trever Lockett, Craig Edwards and Warrick Folkard were the backbone of our attack throughout the year. However the batting did not support the bowling and lacked confidence and purpose. The A Grade batting averages this season are a sad indictment of the standard of our batting this season.

Two batting performances during the year were noteworthy however. Both Steve O'Reilly and Paul Notaras scored great centuries which demonstrated the talent that was hidden within our batting ranks for most of the year.

Our future success would be assisted by the addition of an experienced first grade cricketer who could pass on the coaching and guidance lacking in A Grade at present. The current A Grade side has talent but lacks the experience to fully harness the talent. A new approach through the enticement of an established first grader, through monetary means if necessary, would bring benefits which would greatly outweigh the costs.

I would like to thank all players who were selected in A Grade this year for their effort and their acceptance of my decisions.

Decisions on selections are particularly difficult and not ones that I enjoy. Thanks to Ivan for deputising for me in the last game so successfully.

Phil Lenard.

# MATCH REPORT - A SHIRES

# VS STRATHFIELD 9/114 defeated Strathfield 112 and 6/71

Strathfield won the toss and batted first only to be bundled out for 112, with John Steenkamp taking 5 wickets and Trevor Lockett 4. At 3 for 56 we were sitting comfortably after week 1 but a middle-order collapse saw us scrape through by 1 wicket. Strathfield again struggled in the second innings but no outright result was possible.

# VS AUBURN 5/200 defeated Auburn 159

Another solid bowling performance saw Auburn dismissed for 159 Trevor Lockett taking 5 wickets. Macquarie batted soundly in reply finishing at 5/200 with a fine knock of 73 by Graham Lego as a highlight. A good start to the season.

# VS CANTERBURY 5/225 defeated Canterbury 223

Canterbury batted well to set us a strong challenge but Macquarie was equal to the task. G. Lego again batted well, almost batting through the innings for 86. He was supported by I. Blyth who scored 65 in a 1st wicket partnership of 124. Greg Brown collected 5 wickets in Canterbury's innings.

### VS LINDFIELD 6/197 drew with Lindfield 8/277

In a rain delayed second day, Lindfield decided to bat on after being 8/230 the previous week. As a result, little chance of a result was possible and Macquarie held out for an honourable draw. Ivan Blyth scored a brisk 71 to give us some hope early but a middle-order collapse resulted in the inevitable outcome.

# VS LANE COVE 133 and 124 lost to Lane Cove 167

A poor game for Macquarie with 2 bad batting efforts on albeit a difficult track. C. Edwards bowled superbly to take 8/57 and scored a valuable 43 in the second innings to stave off a possible outright defeat.

# VS PENNANT HILLS 6/244 lost to Pennant Hills 7/249

A terrible game for Macquarie with a poor fielding performance enabling the competition tail-enders to register a win. S. O'Reilly batted in great style to register his maiden century with support from Lego with 47. At 6/244 we declared but our fielding was not able to restrict Pennant Hills who passed our score 7 down.

# VS BAULKHAM HILLS 7/294 defeated Baulkham Hills 291

Our best effort of the season. Only bowling and fielding fairly, we bowled Baulkham Hills out for a formidable 291. However a record partnership of 196 by Ivan Blyth (86) and Paul Notaras (117) was a good enough start to get us home. A fine performance by Paul in his comeback game.

# VS WARRINGAH 108 lost to Warringah 9/224

The start of a dismal run of batting for the side. Warringah declared after week 1 at 9/224 which seemed very generous at the time. However our batting was woeful and we were dismissed for 108 with only O'Reilly (45) showing any grit. A fine bowling effort by Greg Brown 6/33 deserves a mention, doesn't it Lego!

# VS BEXLEY Draw (Due to protest)

An unusual set of circumstances saw this game end in a non-result. The movement of the pitch after day 1 from 1 side of the square to the other created uncertainties for the batsmen which saw us bowled out for 112 after bowling well on the original pitch the previous week. A subsequent protest saw the match declared a draw.

# VS BURWOOD 4/33 drew with Burwood 171

A rain-marred match saw no result possible. Day 1 was washed out and a late thunderstorm before the bowling of 30 overs in Day 2 ended any hopes of points.

# VS WENTWORTHVILLE 86 lost to Wentworthville 6/188

A game we had to win to make the semis. However our batting fell apart again with no one reaching 20. Greg Brown continued his fine form with the ball taking 5/54.

# VS EPPING 9/222 drew with Epping

Rain probably robbed us of a first victory here. A solid batting effort from Andy Lindsay (66) and the perennial Warrick Folkard (43 n.o.) set up a good chase but the heavens opened up on the second day.

# 'A' SHIRES STATISTICS 1989-90

# BATTING AVERAGES

BATSMAN MATCHES INNINGS N.O. H.S. RUNS AVERAGES CATCHES

TOTAL

BOWLER OVERS MAIDENS RUNS WICKETS  G. Brown 111.2 15 351 27 T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WICKETS)  A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	
A. Lindsay 2 2 2 - 66 74 A. Davies 4 3 2 20x 21 R. Mather 6 7 1 32 95 J. Steenkamp 6 3 1 13 26 P. Lenard 11 10 3 33 79 K. Dixon 8 9 3 21x 62 T. Lockett 11 6 3 12 19 T. Ritchie 2 2 - 4 4   BOWLER OVERS MAIDENS RUNS WICKETS  G. Brown 111.2 15 351 27 T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WICKETS)  A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	3 28.45 3 2 24.76 5 2 22.00 5 5 21.20 6 5 16.57 3 1 12.81 6
A. Davies 4 3 2 20x 21 R. Mather 6 7 1 32 95 J. Steenkamp 6 3 1 13 26 P. Lenard 11 10 3 33 79 K. Dixon 8 9 3 21x 62 T. Lockett 11 6 3 12 19 T. Ritchie 2 2 - 4 4   BOWLING AVERAGES  BOWLER OVERS MAIDENS RUNS WICKETS  G. Brown 111.2 15 351 27 T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WI A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	RUNS)
BOWLER OVERS MAIDENS RUNS WICKETS  G. Brown 111.2 15 351 27 T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WI  A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	21.00 2 15.83 1 13.00 1 11.28 16+2st. 2 10.33 2 6 6.33 3
BOWLER OVERS MAIDENS RUNS WICKETS  G. Brown 111.2 15 351 27 T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WICKETS)  A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	
T. Lockett 147.4 27 424 23 P. Notaras 85 16 243 11 J. Steenkamp 98.4 25 403 12 C. Edwards 153 40 392 15 W. Folkard 118 26 322 12  ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WI A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	10 IN 5 IN MATCH INN AVERAGE
A. Davies 30 7 85 4 A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	- 3 13.00 - 1 18.43 22.09 - 1 25.33 - 1 26.15 - 26.83
A. Lindsay 6 3 16 - R. Mather 4 - 25 - S. O'Reilly 7 1 34 -	(CKETS)
K. Dixon 17.1 3 75 -	21.25 

# A SHIRES 1989-90

# BEST PERFORMANCES

Batting Average	G. Lego	33.33
Batting Aggregate	I. Blyth	322
Highest Score	P. Notaras	117 v Baulkham Hills
Bowling Average	G. Brown	13.00
Bowling Aggregate	G. Brown	_ 27
Most Wickets in an Innings	C. Edwards	8/57 v Lane Cove
Most Wickets in a Match	C. Edwards	8/57 v Lane Cove
Wicket Keeping	P. Lenard	16ct + 2st
Centuries	P. Notaras	117 v Baukham Hills
Concar 100	S. O'Reilly	102x v Pennant Hills
Highest Team Score	7 for 294	v Baulkham Hills
Lowest Team Score	86	v Wentworthville
TOWCDC TCGIII DOOLC		

# RESULTS

Played	12
Won Outright	-
Won 1st Innings	4
Drawn	3
Lost 1st Innings	5
Lost outright	_
Position in Competition	9th

TEAM STATISTICS	MACQUARIE	OPPONENTS
Runs Scored	2,092	2,310
Wickets Lost	101	107
Average per Wicket	20.71	21.58

# HIGHEST "A" SHIRES PARTNERSHIPS 1989-90

WICKET		BATSMEN					RUNS	OPPONENT
1.	G.	Lego	(86)	I.	Blyth	(65)	124	Canterbury
2.	P.	Notaras	(117)	I.	Blyth	(86)	196	Baulkham Hills
3.	G.	Lego	(47)	W.	O'Reilly	y(102x)	75	Pennant Hills
4.	R.	Mather	(18)	s.	O'Reilly	y(102x)	55	Pennant Hills
5.	A.	Lindsay	(66)	R.	Mather	(32)	54	Epping
6.	K.	Dixon	(21x)	P.	Lenard	(33)	54	Lindfield
7 .	W.	Folkard	(43x)	R.	Mather	(32)	57	Epping
8.	C.	Edwards	(43)	W.	Folkard	(21)	41	Lane Cove
9.	C.	Edwards	(16)	A.	Davies	(20x)	19	Bexley
10.	T.	Lockett	(12)	A.	Davies	(20x)	32	Bexley

# CAPTAIN'S REPORT - B SHIRES

Yet again the B Shires side found themselves just outside the final four, by coming in at number 5. As there was no play in the B Shires finals, we would have needed to come in at number one in order to win the competition anyway. No play has occurred in the B Shires finals for the last four years so we must aim for number one in order to win.

As usual early season form is paramount - this is where the side failed. Combined with lack of form and unavailabilities from the grade above continually meant that we were well understrength for the first seven rounds. The side was on only 12 points in mid-December.

Compounding this was the playing at home only 5 times out of fourteen for the season, the toss been won three out of the fourteen; and the subsequent playing on the 'bad' weeks of almost every pitch. We just couldn't take a trick throughout the year.

Two very good players started the season in the side. Both Richard Mather (where is his nickname?) and Todd (star) Ritchie performed well and had their share of A Grade games through consistent performances. The remainder of the side performed very consistently as a whole as there were no individual performance awards this year in B's.

Bill Yeo broke the long standing record with most dismissals by a wicketkeeper - 25. Surprisingly only 3 of these were stumpings. This is reward for consistent performances over many years.

The side received umpires for over half of the season. For this pleasure we must thank the NSW Cricket Umpires Association. It makes such a change to have neutral people deciding the outcome of some games instead of the blatant cheating that some sides have become renowned for.

I would like to thank the members of the side who put up with me during the year, particularly those who assisted in the smooth running of the side off the field. Bill Yeo was his normal tower of strength as captain of vice - sorry, Vice-Captain.

The B Shires team express our sympathy with the D Shires side who remained undefeated all season, only to be rolled on a wet wicket in the final by a side they had scored over 300 runs in a previous one-day game on a dry wicket.

Chris Welsby

### MATCH REPORTS - B SHIRES

# VS STRATHFIELD 148 and 0 for 36 lost to Strathfield 166

After losing the toss and batting on a strip which was dry on top but wet below, we struggled to 148 after being 8 for 76. Highlights were "Silver" Harrison 29, Hunter Leonard 39 and Richard Mather 30. The bounce on this wicket was inconsistent after being totally underprepared.

Defending the small total we were disappointed to find a different colour and textured wicket on the second day. Strathfield were 7 for 109 at one stage on a much-improved wicket although they struggled past our score with two wickets to spare. The best bowler being Mark "The Key" Smith with 5 for 55 off 21 overs.

The Golf Driving Range in alongside the oval at Strathfield. It was interesting to see the number of balls that headed towards the Strathfield pavilion, when the pavilion is actually behind the line of the golfers teeing off. We can look forward to seeing golf balls ending up in some strange places at Macquarie.

# VS AUBURN 167 lost to Auburn 8 for 169

Again batting first after losing the toss we were again confronted by what seems to be a typical bad Mona Park wicket. By the end of the first day's play all four opening batsmen from both sides had been hit on either their neck, shoulder or head. The new ball seam was breaking through the pitch surface and climbing direcly upwards. After strong protests from both sides about the wicket on the first day's play - better pitch preparation on the second day assisted an Auburn win. This wicket is notorious for its poor quality over the past fifteen years and action should be taken to bring it to an acceptable standard.

Batting first Todd Ritchie 32 and Richard Mather 25 decided attack was the best form of defence. They decided to hit anything up and get their head out of the way of anything on a good length. Simon Burchett batting at number five hit a good 29. The last wicket partnership of 28 between Alan Davies 10 and Mark Smith 14 n.o. showed plenty of guts and unique batting style.

Auburn batted as if they play on this style of pitch quite often. Tempers were frayed and one player was sent to the outfield to avoid a reporting. Auburn were 8 for 147 before creating a 22 ninth wicket partnership to earn their victory. Best bowlers were Al Davies 3 for 55 off 23 and Steve Bateman 3 for 31 off 15. Mark Smith bowled 1 for 33 off 20 and I have never seen him bowl better. The drift and dip he was achieving was becoming quite remarkable. One batsman asked the outgoing batsman, who had faced him for approximately three overs, what Mark was doing. His reply was "... if I know!!!"

VS CANTERBURY 259 defeated Canterbury 100 and 59 outright.

Winning the toss and batting Richard Mather 96 showed his style dispatching the bowlers to all parts of the ground. He held the innings together and if he didn't run out of partners (he was last out) he would have gone on to get the big three figures. He was assisted by Simon Burchett 33 with most the remainder of the order getting a start but not going on with it.

Canterbury at 2 for 92 at tea on the second day were well in line to actually win, even though they were two players short. Richard Mather with a six over spell of off-spin took 6 for 7 ending their innings abruptly. Invited to bat again, Canterbury were dismissed within nineteen overs for 59. This time "The Key" Smith took 4 for 4 off 5 overs and Al Davies 3 for 30 off 7 overs.

Richard Mather must consider himself unlucky after being 4 runs short of a batting pewter and one wicket short of a bowling pewter all in the one game.

# VS LINDFIELD drew with Lindfield 269

Our first game without umpires bought the normal controversial decisions both after Lindfield won the toss and batted and the second day was washed out.

On a hot day with a fast outfield and with 35 overs still to bowl Lindfield were 3 for 234 with their batsmen set. We looked like we were in for a real thrashing. After a team meeting and different tactics Al Davies 3 for 69 off 25 overs and "Silver" Harrison 5 for 54 off 23 tightened the bowling, allowing us to place pressure on the batsman. Lindfield ended up losing 7 for 35.

After heavy showers on Friday and Saturday morning the second day was completely washed out.

### VS LANE COVE 224 lost to Lane Cove 7 for 227

With many dropouts from the A Grade we entered this match well under strength. After again losing the toss and batting on a overcast day no one really asserted their authority. Todd Ritchie 41, Grizzle Welsby 33 and Andy Pavlov 31 all started well without going on with it. The batsmen that didn't get a start were all dismissed by gentle, well-pitched outswing bowling with an occasional bouncer.

Lane Cove batted on a fine and sunny day and with tight bowling we had them at 6 for 135 and were looking good. At this stage we ran out of bowlers bowling a good line. Silver Harrison with 3 for 65 kept it tight and Steve Bateman 2 for 44 belted their middle order around. In the end, on a flat pitch, we just didn't have the artillery to finish them off.

# VS PENNANT HILLS 6 dec 261 drew with Pennant Hills 9 for 154

The Cricket Association moved us off our own ground onto Macquarie North - a ground which many of the Pennant Hills players had played on far more than the Macquarie B players. After winning the toss and batting we were too slow and needed to bat into the second week. Ritchie 53, Bateman 42 n.o., O'Keeffe 35, Pavlov 36, Kendall 31 and Burchett 29 were the foundation of a consistent batting lineup.

Pennant Hills at no time looked to go after the runs so it was left to us to weasel them out however we could, in what became light drizzle in the afternoon. Ritchie 3 for 35 off 23, Davies 2 for 49 and Bateman 2 for 14 off 15 were the best bowlers. Despite having over eight overs at the last batsman we couldn't take the last wicket.

Three highlights on the second day's play were:

- A one-handed diving first slip catch with a wet ball off Steve Bateman by Todd Ritchie;
- 2. Tom Brooks the ex-Test umpire "coaching" Steve Bateman at square leg. Tom's standing is so high that he is probably the only umpire that could get away with it; and
- 3. A Steve Bateman six off the centre pitch landing on the roof of the block of flats closest to the park.

# VS BAULKHAM HILLS 6 for 193 defeated Baulkham Hills 191

Baulkham Hills won the toss and batted - this pleased John Steenkamp no end. Their innings was played in three parts. Macquarie took 5 for 36, Baulkham Hills had a 124 partnership then we took a further 5 for 31. Wickets were snared by John Steenkamp 5 for 45, Al Davies 3 for 46 and Todd Ritchie 2 for 33. Heavy pressure in a number of ways ensured a Baulkham Hills younger player failed to make his century. He scored 92.

We had little problem making the required runs led by O'Keeffe 50, Ritchie 41 and two not outs from Bateman 35 and Harrison 35.

Two incidents occurred during the game both involving the presiding woman umpire:

- John Steenkamp crawling; "How's that...Mam???" or "Could I pour your afternoon tea ... Mam???" It worked - John's first two wickets could have gone either way.
- 2. The woman umpire introduced the Macquarie Captain to the other umpire then said that there is never any discipline problems with this side as the captain disciplines his side on the field before the umpire needs to act. Someone had been brainwashed!

# VS BEXLEY 4 for 107 defeated Bexley 106 and 4 for 69

A very defensive Bexley won the toss and batted and were immediately in trouble. John Steenhamp moving the ball quite sharply through the air and 'big' Ken Dixon kept the pressure on throughout. John, taking 5 for 46 off 19, and Ken, 3 for 40 off 21, both bowled themselves to exhaustion. 'Silver' Harrison also chimed in with 2 for 13 off 7.

Macquarie passed them easily with Graeme Lego 37 n.o. and Ian 'mouth' Jessup 31 doing the majority of the work.

We couldn't break through the early Bexley innings and called drinks. Bexley was defensive and we couldn't blast or spin them out.

\*\* A new record was set in this game - the opposition opening batsman was 17 not out at tea on the first day.

# VS BURWOOD 198 drew with Burwood 3 for 82

After losing the toss and batting in this one-day game we were in initial trouble but were soon rescued by Ian Jessup with a well controlled 86, assisted by Ken Dixon 27 and Todd Ritchie 25. 'The Mouth's' innings was total control throughout and only the push for a higher run-rate took its toll.

With a large thunderstorm threatening Burwood sent out their slashers and at 2 for 16 things looked good. As the ball soaked up the rain it became hard to hold and the batsmen took over. We left the field to obtain a draw in the mistaken belief that we would receive two points for a drawn one-day limited-over game. It was found later that an anomaly existed in the rules (which has since been changed) and no points were awarded.

# VS WENTWORTHVILLE 232 defeated Wentworthville 9 for 231

This was easily our most satisfying win for the season. Wentworthville were the reining premiers and hadn't been defeated at home for over two years.

We won the toss (at last) and gambled by batting on a wicket which was wet in patches including on a good length. Graeme 'Legs' Lego 25 and 'Grizzle' Welsby decided attack was the best form of defence and took 68 off 14 overs. With the whole day scene set and the wicket drying, Ian Jessup 73 and Ken Dixon 49 finished the job. Macquarie lost our last seven wickets for 35 runs in the chase for quick runs. Wenty's star bowler finished the day with 2 for 117 off 21 overs. His first wicket came in his 20th over.

Yet again, another innings in three parts. Wenty at tea were 5 for 31 Steve Bateman bowled an extended spell of fast bowling to have 3 for 14. Fielding was particularly good including a one-handed diving catch at second slip by Grizzle off Steve Bateman. A 130 run partnership swung the game again where we found that spin was unable to be bowled at this ground due to the short boundaries.

With four sides watching proceedings at 6.50 pm and two overs to bowl they needed five runs to win with one wicket in hand. Ian Jessup bowled a great over to cost one run and one leg bye. Ken Dixon bowled the last over under extreme pressure, with many field alterations throughout the over - he also cost one run and one leg bye. A win by one run - you couldn't get any closer than that!

# <u>VS EPPING</u> 5 dec 169 defeated Epping 167 and 0 for 49

Yet another tight display by the bowlers kept the opposition to a resonable score after yet another lost toss. 'Silver' Harrison 2 for 48 off 22 kept one end quiet while Ken Dixon probed at the other end for 3 for 27 off 19. Steve Bateman also showed plenty of fire to return 3 for 25 off 16 in three very good spells. Steve bowled one of the best balls I have seen bowled at Macquarie. A very fast ball just short of a length rose sharply to have 'Doggie' Wilson caught at gully.

With one over to face that night we took 10 off the over. Many hours of work went into pitch drying after many storms during the last day and a half. We gambled and started the game on time and passed their score with ease with Ian Jessup 40, Silver Harrison 35 and Grizzle Welsby 31 showing the way.

The ball was thrown around in the second innings with a number of non-bowlers showing their wares. The bowlers need not worry in the future.

'B' SHIRES STATISTICS 1989-90

# BATTING AVERAGES

D2/	701/317		T101T1100	** 0		TOTAL	attena ded	G M G T T G	
BA:	isman m	ATCHES	INNINGS	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGES	CATCHES	
I.	Jessup	4	4	1	86	219	73.00	1	
R.	Mather	4	3	_	96	151	50.33	3	
т.	Ritchie	10	9		53	234	26.00	8	
Μ.	O'Keefe	7	5	_	50	119	23.80		
A.	Harrison	11	10	2	35	180	22.50	3 3	
S.	Burchett	11	10	2	36	170	21.25	7	
S.	Bateman	11	10	3	42x	146	20.85	1	
A.	Pavlov	7	6	-	36	123	20.50	-	
C.	Welsby	11	10	-	38	159	15.90	4	
			ALSO BATTE	D (LES	S THAN	100 R	UNS)		
к.	Dixon	4	3	1	49	78	39.00	1	
H.	Leonard	1	1	_	39	39	39.00		
	Kendall	2	2	-	31	58	29.00	1	
	Lego	4	4	1	37x	76	25.33		
Μ.	Smith	10	6	2	22	66	16.50	3 3	
C.	Anderson	1	1	_	13	13	13.00	_	
D.	Latto	2	2	_	18	23	11.50	_	
Κ.	Wiblin	4	5	1	17	44	11.00	2	
В.	Yeo	10	6	-	24	52	8.66	22+3st	
A.	Davies	7	<b>4</b>	1	10	23	7.66	2	
C.	Cole	5	3 2	_	12	13	4.33	-	
J.	Steenkamp	4	2	1	3x	4	4.00	-	
H.	Paxton	1	1	_	0	0	0.00	- 4	
B.	Brien	1	1	1	1x	1	5	_	

# BOWLING AVERAGES

BO	VLER	OVERS	MAIDENS	RUNS	WICKETS	10 IN MATCH	5 IN INN	AVERAGE
J.	Steenkamp	84.2	21	176	13	-	2	13.53
	Davies	161.4	31	412	23	_	1	17.91
S.	Bateman	130.1	38	277	15	-	_	18.46
A.	Harrison	135.5	28	367	18	_	1	20.38
M.	Smith	104	18	278	11	_	1	25.27

# ALSO BOWLED (LESS THAN 10 WICKETS)

R.	Mather	14.2	2	43	7	-	1	6.14
	O'Keefe	10.5	5	30	3	_	-	10.00
I.	Jessup	18	3	50	3	_	_	16.66
K.	Dixon	66	18	162	9	_	_	18.00
T.	Ritchie	53.2	12	124	5	_	-	24.80
Η.	Paxton	9	1	31	1	_		31.00
В.	Brien	13	1	37	1	-	_	37.00
C.	Cole	41	15	77	2	_	_	38.50
C.	Welsby	1	_	3	-	-	_	-
В.	Yeo	1	_	6	_	-	_	
s.	Burchett	1	_	8	_	-	_	· —
G.	Lego	1	_	12	_	-	-	-
	Leonard	5	1	13	_	_	_	

# 'B' SHIRES 1989-90

# BEST PERFORMANCES

Batting Average		Jessup	73.00	
Batting Aggregate	T.	Ritchie	234	
Highest Score	R.	Mather	96 v Canterbury	
Bowling Average	J.	Steenkamp	13.53	
Bowling Aggregate	A.	Davies	23	
Most Wickets in an Innings	R.	Mather	6/7 v Canterbury	
	A.	Davies	6/66 v Warringah	
Most Wickets in a Match	R.	Mather	7/10 v Canterbury	
Wicket Keeping	В.	Yeo	22ct + 3st	
Centuries	- 9	-		
Highest team score	25	9	v Canterbury	
Lowest team score	14	8	v Strathfield	

# RESULTS

Played	12
Won Outright	1
Won 1st Innings	4
Drawn	3
Lost 1st Innings	4
Lost Outright	_
Position in Competition	5th

TEAM STATISTICS	MACQUARIE	OPPONENTS
Runs Scored Wickets Lost	2,157 91	2,175 120
Average per Wicket	23.70	18.12

### HIGHEST 'B' SHIRES PARTNERSHIPS 1989-90

WICKET		BATSMEN					RUNS	OPPONENT
1	c.	Welsby	(38)	G.	Lego	(25)	68	Wentworthville
2	s.	Burchett	(36)	C.	Kendall	(27)	50	Warringah
3	G.	Lego	(37x)	A.	Harrison	(31)	52	Bexley
4	I.	Jessup	(73)	K.	Dixon	(49)	95	Wentworthville
5	T.	Ritchie	(41)	Μ.	O'Keefe	(50)	67	Baulkham Hills
6	I.	Jessup	(40x)	A.	Harrison	(35)	62	Epping
7	I.	Jessup	(86)	Μ.	O'Keefe	(16)	49	Burwood
8	R.	Mather	(96)	Α.	Harrison	(24)	51	Canterbury
9	H.	Leonard	(39)	A.	Harrison	(29)	65	Strathfield
10	R.	Mather	(96)	Μ.	Smith	(20x)	44	Canterbury

# CAPTAIN'S REPORT 'C' SHIRES

After the disappointing previous year, 1989/90 seemed full of hope for C Grade. Several players had returned after breaks in their Macquarie careers, and others had joined fresh.

There was no lack of variety in the composition of the team early on in the season. Workhorses, fast bowlers, finger and wrist spinners, even one who bowled low darts; gritty openers, stroke-players, guns and cowboys, even a couple who used the bat for decoration.

The potential for success was enormous.

Unfortunately that's about where the accolades end.

The season could best be summed up by saying everybody 'under-performed'. What we were capable of and what we actually produced were like chalk and cheese, as one well known racing driver would say.

After the loss to Warringah (Round 8) the selectors decided to promote me to B Grade for the remainder of the year, and Dave Baker took over the captaincy role. I would like to thank Dave for this and although it may appear to some that the captain was leaving the sinking ship, I was quite prepared to stay as captain for the whole season and I left it to a vote of the selectors (myself excluded) to make the final decision on this.

It was felt that fielding the strongest possible B Grade team in order to qualify for the semi-finals was in the best interest of the Club, and I apologise to those players who thought it was wrong of me to leave in the middle of the season. Now onto the year itself.

Having called the toss of the coin correctly for most of the early games, we failed in the batting and were unable to set targets large enough for our bowlers to work towards.

The draw for the season was quite remarkable, in fact we had only 3 games scheduled away from home, making it imperative that we set big totals on the usual superb home batting tracks.

In the first two games we could only manage 150 or so and this was never enough. The third match, against Canterbury, saw us reach 231. Our perseverance to take 8 for 29 after tea on the second day was fantastic and proved to ourselves we were the equal of most teams.

By this stage Doug Latto had established himself as a reliable opening bat and he compiled 203 runs at 33.83, injury forcing him to miss several games at the end. Glen McFadden, a very keen young pup, was promoted for the second game and comfortably held his spot and he should mature both physically and with the bat next season. His 251 at 25.1 showed great promise and he was the outstanding fielder for the season.

We lost a crucial game by five runs three days before Xmas which would have put us equal third with four wins from seven, indicating the closeness of the competition, and after that we failed to record a win. Key players were unavailable for important games, and this definately cost us. It would be nice if players could instill in themselves a commitment for the entire season, and attend BBQ's and parties after cricket.

Other players to perform with the bat were Steve 'Sheep' Le Bas with 141 at 17.62 and Andy Pavlov with 103 at 25.75 late in the season. I chipped in with 513 at 64.12 in my career-best season but would gladly have donated runs elsewhere for the sake of team consistency and a few more wins.

The trouble with our batting lay mainly in poor technique, and the statistics show a disproportionately large number of bowls compared to caughts. Players who attended training regularly had better results to show at the end of the season.

Now to the bowling. Our bowlers toiled hard, often achieving early breakthroughs, but solid middle order batting from our opponents and targets around the 150 mark meant every chance had to be taken. Sadly, we contributed what can only be described as a 'generous tax-deductible sum' to the Tour Fund in the way of dropped catches.

Homer Paxton took 13 wickets at 27.38 to be our leading wicket-taker, including 5-64 against Canterbury, which sadly was the only 5-wicket haul for the season. It would take Sherlock Holmes to work out how Dave Baker only took 12 at 28.75 as he was easily the best bowler, often bowling long spells for very little reward.

Steve Le Bas would have been the quickest, scariest, hairiest thing a batsman had seen in C Grade for quite some time and he took 11 at 24.36, and twice was on a hat-trick. Had he played more games he would no doubt have led the averages.

Often out of despair, sometimes simply because I was captain, other times to try to buy wickets, I gave myself a bowl. This move, of course, was mocked by the hierarchy of the Club but surprisingly produced 10 wickets at 11.

Ken Wiblin and Doug Latto both conjured up several wily spells of spin bowling to add variety but too often we had failed to score enough runs ourselves to allow these magicians to weave sustained magic.

Phil Wheeler had a shaky start as wicket-keeper after a few years off, but his confidence grew as the season progressed and he picked up a couple of fine stumpings. In his absence, Glen McFadden proved very capable behind the stumps.

All in all, 1989/90 was a disappointing season for C Grade, not due to lack of ability, but lack of concentration and application. We have the players to prove a force in the competition, and it is only through constant and disciplined training that our talent will emerge.

On a final note I would like to wish the Touring Squad the very best and happiest of times in the UK - it is with extreme jealousy that I will shiver while they plunder.

See you next year.

Ian Jessup.

# MATCH REPORTS 'C' SHIRES

VS STRATHFIELD 152 lost to Strathfield 3-153

The first day of the season promised much when we found ourselves 0-43 at drinks after winning the toss and batting. Unfortunately we crumbled to 5-80 at tea with Latto (32) and Jessup (20) the only bastsmen to make an effort. Wheeler (24 n.o.) and Le Bas (28) added respect for a total of 152. Paxton made the early breakthrough shortly before stumps.

### VS AUBURN 129 and 1-72 lost to Auburn 2 dec 134

Again we won the toss and batted on what turned out to be a sub-standard pitch and we soon found ourselves struggling at 6-54. Le Bas (22) was the only batsman to lend Jessup (48) any support and we were all out for 129.

Auburn's early batting was scratchy and frustrating but they survived to be 0-50. Next week we dropped 5 catches before they passed us 2-down, and invited us to bat again. We finished 1-72 at 5 pm in order to watch B's. Doug Latto (51 n.o.) registered the 1st half-century of the season.

#### VS CANTERBURY 231 defeated Canterbury 182

On a perfect strip we batted first and were soon 2-5 before some steady batting from McFadden (20) and O'Keeffe (18) saw us to tea at 4-110. Once Congreve (26) and Jessup (74) departed we again collapsed to 8-169 but thanks to Byrne (21), Leonard (26) and Baker (19 n.o) we made it to 231.

We also made 2 early breakthroughs but then we struck 2 batsmen in tremendous form and they were 2-150 off only 35 overs at tea. At last a 'miracle' was performed. Jessup (4-22) and Paxton (5-64) ripped through the Canterbury line-up immediately after tea to take 8-29 and bring our first victory by 50 runs.

Quite an amazing afternoon's cricket.

#### VS LINDFIELD 133 and 8-117 lost to Lindfield 8-287

Forced to field on a stinking hot day, we soon had the unbeaten Lindfield 3-34 until dropped catches again proved our downfall. We then chased leather all afternoon as they amassed 7-287. Baker (2-54), Le Bas (2-40) and Wiblin (2-39) toiled hard.

On a slightly wet track we surrendered without a fight and were soon 8-97 with only Jessup (26) and Congreve (22) showing any resistance. Baker (17) and Le Bas (24 n.o) took us to 133.

Lindfield declared at 0-0 setting us 126 in 26 overs. We looked a possibility at 4-105 after Le Bas (34) and Congreve (35) chased eagerly. We lost 4 quick wickets and closed up shop at 8-117.

Substandard in every aspect.

### VS LANE COVE 3-195 defeated Lane Cove 178

This time we fielded and bowled with spirit and 2-85 quickly became 5-98. At 5-158 things looked a little gloomier until Jessup (3-18) and Denlow (2-27) cleaned up the tail for 20 runs. Leonard (2-26) and Le Bas (2-44) were the pick of the earlier bowlers.

We lost Wheeler to a rash drive on the first day to be 1-24 overnight.

The second day was sheer joy. We took our time against good, accurate bowling with Leonard (15) out to a superb catch early. At 3-60 things were a bit shaky but a fantastic unbeaten partnership of 135 between Jessup, scoring his initial career century, (100 n.o) and O'Keeffe (47 n.o) brought us a much-needed win.

# VS PENNANT HILLS 8-265 defeated Pennant Hills 7 dec 143 and 8-100

We got off to a flying start with Wiblin (16) and Latto (48) adding 75 for the first wicket. Then Anderson (28) and McFadden (34) supported Jessup (76) and at 3-241 we were looking at 300 before yet another middle order collapse saw us finish the day at 8-265. It poured all week and on a helpful track Pennant Hills struggled and eventually declared at 7-143 in the hope of gaining 2nd innings points. Le Bas (2-7) bowled with fire and Brien will never bowl better in his life and end a match wicketless.

We dropped 7 catches for the day and almost grabbed the extra 4 points before they closed up shop at 8-100. Le Bas (2-18) and Ercelenk (3-26) took advantage of the different style of game.

A sloppy performance but a win all the same.

#### VS BAULKHAM HILLS 270 lost to Baulkham Hills 275

Having lost the toss, we also lost the plot, our line and length and our ability to catch as Hills amassed 2-144 at tea. Two LBW's immediately after tea and then some tight bowling restricted them to 8-258 off 86 overs. Disappointingly, they batted on next week to make 275. Baker (4-89) was outstanding and kept us in the game.

Needing 276 off only 78 overs we lost Wiblin at 4 and Jones (28) at 54. Latto (41) was out shortly after tea with the score on 126. McFadden (43) and Jessup (97) then set sail on course to a superb victory, and a thoroughly deserved one.

Then some pathetic batting saw us crumble from 3-230 (needing 46 off 16 overs) to all out for 270, only 5 runs short of a badly-needed win.

Not one of the last 6 batsmen was out caught (3B, 2LBW, 1HW) and it left a very sick feeling in my stomach to see what looked to be a great win thoroughly butchered. Disgusting, rank, amateur.

### VS WARRINGAH 142 lost to Warringah 179

On a stinking hot day, as vultures swept hungrily above, Warringah won the toss and sent us in. What?! "We'll teach these smug mugs a lesson", I said. Four hours later I was grabbing a new ball out of the kit as we attempted to defend 142. Only Jessup (71) showed any resistance against a skilled, young attack. Latto and Anderson both reached 17 before playing immature shots.

Mark "Rackemann" Warren broke through immediately and Dave Baker grabbed an LBW to have them 2-5.

Out strode their 'gun' bat.

Resuming at 2-21 he compiled 74 before finally being dismissed with the score on 101. We were unlucky not to have him LBW on 20. The young culprit who pretended to umpire, later walked through the clubhouse, observed a very dubious appeal by Terry Alderman for LBW and yelled 'that's plumb!'

Sadly he decided the critical delivery bowled by Jessup would have gone under middle stump and our hopes were gone.

Dave Baker bowled well for 3-33, Mutlu Ercelenk had them guessing with 3-67 and Jessup added 2-19.

Sometimes it feels like you're playing against 14 players.

#### VS BEXLEY 127 lost to Bexley 7-140

In this match David Baker stepped into the Captain's position, left vacant by the promotion of Ian Jessup to B's. Dave won the toss and elected to bat on a pitch that was slowish but otherwise quite flat. The Macquarie batsmen, however, managed to find some previously unimagined horrors in both the pitch and the opposition bowling and were rolled for a paltry 127. Only Andy Pavlov (32) scored over 20. Fortunately, our bowlers and fieldsmen worked hard to prevent the Bexley batsmen walking all over us, and only one batsmen really got going. However, our total was never going to allow us to gain the ascendancy and Bexley were 7-146 when stumps were drawn. The most successful bowlers were Ken Wiblin (4-34) and Steve Le Bas (2-25).

#### VS BURWOOD 6-181 drew with Burwood 1-54

Again Dave Baker won the toss and elected to bat. On this occasion our batting showed more heart thanks mostly to Glenn McFadden with a fine 84 and Andy Pavlov with 36. At the completion of our overs we were a competitive 6-181. However, with rain fast approaching and the match already reduced to one day by rain the previous week the chances of a result were decreasing rapidly. Burwood lost an early wicket but set about their task aggressively. When the heavens finally opened up and deluged us Burwood were 1-54 with Steve Batemen (1-12) the sole wicket-taker. Match drawn.

#### VS WENTWORTHVILLE 107 lost to Wentworthville 3-112

Wenty won the toss and, not surprisingly, decided to bowl on a soft, damp and loose surfaced pitch. When play stopped after 11 overs (6 of which were played in steady-to-heavy rain) we were 3-13. No more play was possible on the first day. On Day 2 Sam Byrne (29) and Colin Cole (17) teamed up to salvage the situation somewhat and were looking quite good when the partnership was broken at 57. From there we could reasonably hope for a score between 150 and 200 but this was not to be despite Dave Baker's lusty 19 from number 10 (we were short a bastsman), We were all out for 107. While the pitch was still sub-standard, Wenty were obviously used to such conditions and were untroubled passing us 3 down. Sam Byrne (2-25) and Colin Cole (1-26) were the successful bowlers.

#### VS EPPING 210 drew with Epping.

Macquarie won the toss and elected to bat on the best Macquarie North pitch of the season. That, combined with energy-sapping heat, took its toll on Epping's bowling and fielding and allowed Bill Congreve (39) and Ken Wiblin (39) to register C's best opening (81) of the season. At tea we were 2-109 and in a position to capitalise on a tiring Epping attack. However, apart from Andy Pavlov (34) and David Chin (24) the rest of our batting succumbed to the tight off-spin of McCracken and we were all out for a disappointing but competitive 210. Unfortunately our hopes of a final round win disappeared due to rain (surprise, surprise) on the following Saturday.

#### 'C' SHIRES STATISTICS 1989-90

BATTING AVE	RAGES						
BATSMAN	MATCHES	INNINGS	N.O.	H.S.	TOTAL RUNS	AVERAGES	CATCHES
I. Jessup	8	9	1	100x	513	64.12	3
D. Latto	6	8	2	51x	203	33.83	_
A. Pavlov	4	4	_	36	103	25.75	1
G. McFadden	. 9	10	_	84	251	25.10	3
S. Le Bas	10	9	1	34	141	17.62	1
B. Congreve	8	10	1	39	147	16.33	3

			ALSO BATTED	(LESS	THAN	100 RUNS	5)	
-	Ch. t.	4	4		24	2.4	24 00	
	Chin	ı,	<u> </u>	_	24	24	24.00	1
М.	O'Keefe	4	5	ı	47x	87	21.75	1
	Jones	2	2	-	28	33	16.50	ı
	Lindsay	1	1	-	16	16	16.00	_
C.	Anderson	3	3	_	28	47	15.66	3
S.	Byrne	6	5	1	29	74	14.80	1
Р.		1	1	-	14	14	14.00	_
D.	Baker	11	10	2	19x	93	11.62	4
Κ.	Wiblin	8	9	1	39	91	11.37	2
Η.	Leonard	4	5	_	26	48	9.60	2
P.	Wheeler	7	8	1	24x	55	7.85	5+3st
Η.	Paxton	6	7	2	13	35	7.00	1
Μ.	Denlow	4	3	-	9	20	6.66	_
C.	Cole	6	3 5 3 2	-	17	32	6.40	-
Μ.	Patterson	3	3	-	10	16	5.33	-
D.	Butler	2	2	1	5x	5	5.00	-
S.	Jurd	2	2	1	4x	4	4.00	-
	Brien	3	2	1	4	4	4.00	-
s.	Bateman	1	1	_	3	3	3.00	_
Р.	Leong	2	2	_	3	4	2.00	1
	Ercelenk	3	2	1	2x	2	2.00	2
G.	Hobbs	1	1	_	0	0	0.00	_
н.	Warren	2	2	_	0	0	0.00	-
-	Ninopolous	. 1	_	_	_	_	_	_
В.		1		_	_	S <del>=4</del> 5		_
~.		•						

### BOWLING AVERAGES

BOV	VLER	OVERS	MAIDENS	RUNS	WICKETS	10 IN MATCH	5 IN INN	AVERAGE
I.	Jessup	51.2	13	110	10	(S <del></del> )	_	11.00
S.	Le Bas	109	24	268	11	-	_	24.36
н.	Paxton	111	24	356	13		1	27.38
D.	Baker	140.2	31	345	12	-	-	28.75
		ALS	SO BOWLED	(LESS	THAN 10	WICKETS)		
S.	Byrne	5	1	19	2	-	_	9.50
	Bateman	6	2	12	1	-	-	12.00
Κ.	Wiblin	26	4	73	6	72	_	12.16
Μ.	Denlow	8.1	1	27	2	-	_	13.50
Μ.	Ercelenk	56.1	11	171	8	_	_	21.37
C.	Cole	38	6	134	4	1.77	-	33.50
Μ.	Warren	23	6	52	1	-	-	52.00
D.	Latto	18	3	55	1	(-)	_	55.00
Η.	Leonard	42	10	125	2	-	-	62.50
B.	Congreve	1	_	3	_		_	-
В.	Jones	1	_	9	_	=	-	-
S.	Jurd	7	2	21	_	-	-	-
Μ.	Ramsland	8	_	32	_	3 <del>-</del>	P	_
B.	Brien	32.2	7	55	_	-	_	_

### C SHIRES 1989-90

### BEST PERFORMANCES

	_	_	64.40
Batting Average	Τ.	Jessup	64.12
Batting Aggregate	I.	Jessup	513
Highest Score	I.	Jessup	100x v Lane Cove
Bowling Average	I.	Jessup	11.00
Bowling Aggregate	Η.	Paxton	13
Most Wickets in an Innings	Η.	Paxton	5/64 v Canterbury
Most Wickets in a Match	H.	Paxton	5/64 v Canterbury
Wicket Keeping	P.	Wheeler	5ct + 3st
Centuries	I.	Jessup	100x v Lane Cove
Highest Team Score			270 v Baulkham Hills
Lowest Team Score			107 v Wentworthville

### RESULTS

Played	12
Won Outright	_
Won 1st Innings	3
Drawn	2
Lost 1st Innings	7
Lost Outright	_
Position in Competition	12th

TEAM STATISTICS	MACQUARIE	OPPONENTS
Run Scored	2,331	1,943
Wickets Lost	116	78
Average per Wicket	20.09	24.91

### HIGHEST "C" GRADE PARTNERSHIPS 1989-90

WICKET		BATSMEN				so	CORE	OPPONENT
1	в.	Congreve (	39) 1	K.	Wiblin	(39)	81	Epping
2	G.	McFadden (8	84) 7	Α.	Lindsay	(16)	56	Burwood
3	I.	Jessup (	76) (	C.	Anderson	(28)	77	Pennant Hills
4	I.	Jessup (10	00x)	Μ.	O'Keefe	(47x)	135x	Lane Cove
5	I.	Jessup ('	74) 1	В.	Congreve	(26)	58	Canterbury
6	G.	McFadden (	43) (	C.	Cole	(12)	20	Baulkham Hills
7	I.	Jessup (	48)	S.	Le Bas	(22)	61	Auburn
8	S.	Le Bas (:	28) 1	P.	Wheeler	(24x)	33	Strathfield
9	S.	Byrne (:	21) 1	н.	Leonard	(26)	36	Canterbury
10	Η.	Leonard (	26) I	D.	Baker	(19x)	26	Canterbury

### CAPTAIN'S REPORT 'D' SHIRES

This is my second report as Captain of the D Shires and I know I won't ever have to cover the same range of emotions again in presenting a Captain's Report.

We were undefeated minor premiers, a feat that few teams and certainly no Macquarie team has ever previously achieved. Yet the season was to end in the most crushing disappointment following the farcical events and ultimate defeat in the final.

I have dwelt on length on the final in my match report so I will not comment further here.

I will, however, focus on the team and the individuals that made up that team.

Pre-season training saw 80 plus players make themselves available for selection. As captain of the 4th team I was thus in the marvellous and difficult position of choosing a team from about 50 players. Twenty seven players ultimately played D Grade. Of these, 14 qualified for the semi-final and final.

The team finished with 72 points after the 14 rounds, 18 clear of 2nd and 20 in front of the eventual premiers. Our dominance was absolute, at no time were we ever seriously threatened by defeat. Our for and against quotient for the season was 2.4557 which again clearly reflects our dominance.

The team was dismissed only 4 times during the season, we compiled 8 scores over 200, 2 of which were over 300. The best was 366 against Pennant Hills, the second highest score in the Club's history. We broke 6 and equalled 1 of the 10 batting partnership records for D Grade.

To the individuals; 5 MUCC trophies were won by D Graders, 4 bowlers and 1 batsman, 3 other batsmen scored 90's and just missed out on trophies. The trophy winners included Mark Warren, 7 for 39 against Pennant Hills, Mark Ramsland, 7 for 31 against Baulkham Hills and Darren Welsby, 7 for 30 against Warringah.

Our two other trophy winners deserve special mention. Barry Brien against Lane Cove returned the best ever bowling analysis in the Club's history, 8 for 8 versus Lane Cove eclipsing Graham Amos' 8 for 10 against Lane Cove in 1977/78. It was a great thrill to be involved with Barry's performance.

Secondly, Bruce Hort scored a D Grade record 131 against Burwood and I was fortunate enough to share with him a Club record partnership of 206, the first 200 stand in the Club's history.

The D Grade batting aggregate record was broken by 3 players; Mahoney 467, Hort 260 and Ramsland 256. The bowling aggregate record was also broken by 3 players; Ramsland 39, Ercelenk 32, and Warren 28.

At this point I should thank firstly Ken Dixon for his involvement in organising 5th Grade, my fellow captains in particular Ian Jessup for not pinching all my players and Brian Jones' father for scoring during the latter part of the season. Also a special thanks to Dr. Jurd for his assistance on and off the field.

Thanks also to Mark Warren, Dave Butler and Malcolm Patterson for the good grace with which they accepted their non-selection for the finals despite being qualified.

To my colleagues that played the final; Brian Jones, Bruce Hort, Craig Anderson, Dave Folkard, Mark Ramsland, Greg Hobbs, Steve Jurd, Mutlu Ercelenk, Barry Brien and Darren Welsby thank you for sharing the joy of a great season and take strength from the knowledge that we were, without doubt, the best team in the competition. Remember also that we play to enjoy ourselves. Finally, learning from the final can only benefit the Club and I look forward to building on our achievements in the years ahead.

### Allan Mahoney

#### MATCH REPORT 'D' SHIRES

VS\_STRATHFIELD 6 dec 251 defeated Strathfield 79 and 54

Fielded a very different team to that which completed the last game of the previous season in D Grade. We had 3 survivors from that team (Mahoney, Jurd and Warren), 4 new players, 3 players who had completed 1988/89 season in higher grade and Dave Baker coming out of semi-retirement. We started full of hope and enthusiasm.

Lost the toss and were invited to bat on an excellent Macquarie No. 1 wicket. Mahoney (23) and Leong (21) were untroubled to record an opening stand of 55. With the unfortunate run out of Leong, debutante Glenn McFadden came to the wicket. When he was unluckily dismissed for 81, 3 hours and 10 minutes later Glenn had demonstrated he was a batsman of some quality. This was understandably his only appearance in D Grade. Sam Byrne with a powerful 60 provided good support to Glenn and together they recorded a D Grade record partnership of 117 for the 5th wicket.

Mark Ramsland with a patient 23 not out gave an indication of later fine performances.

After 75 overs I declared at 6 for 251. Strathfield lost 1 wicket prior to stumps. The following week in good conditions the young Strathfield team displayed little technique against consistent bowling being dismissed for 79. Baker returned the best figures of 5 for 39.

Strathfield were invited to follow on and batted poorly to be dismissed for 54. Sam Byrne was best returning the extraordinary figures of 4 for 2. Dave Baker collected 2 2nd inning wickets to give him 7 for the match and thus earnt promotion to C Grade for the rest of the season.

It was pleasing to get 10 points from the first game of the season by 10 past 4, however, it was difficult to judge, at this stage, the quality of our team given the inadequacies of the opposition.

#### VS AUBURN 203 defeated Auburn 116 and 76

Won the toss and elected to bat on a flat Macquarie North Wicket. Started shakily against tight bowling to be 4 for 50. Hobbs (38) and Ninopoulos (61) rescured us with a fine stand of 69. Chris Ninopoulos' innings was one of the most brutal I have ever witnessed, his driving straight of the wicket was thrilling to watch. Continued to lose wickets to be 9 for 168 when Ramsland (30 not out) and Ercelenk (19) came together to share a D Grade record equalling 10th wicket stand of 35 which allowed us to pass 200 for the second successive match.

At stumps Auburn were 1 for 19. On day 2 on a good wicket we bowled and fielded well against batting which was not as strong as anticipated. Auburn were dismissed for 116 in their 1st innings with Warren returning the best figures of 3 for 44. Again enforced the follow on with Auburn dismissed a second time for 76. Ercelenk bowled with great control to return 4 for 16.

For the four players who had played in the loss to Auburn the previous season this handsome victory was very satisfying. It also indicated that our team and in particular our bowling was going to be a force to be reckoned with.

#### VS CANTERBURY 289 defeated Canterbury 179

Made the long journey to Bland Oval to be greeted by a perfect looking batting wicket and a small fast outfield. Won the toss without hesitation batted, lost our 10th wicket on the last ball of the day to be dismissed for a then record D Grade high score of 289.

Carney top scored with a chancey 67. Anderson played the innings of the day for 60, but would agree that he should have got more. Butler's luck changed for him to get 46 and Mahoney contributed 35 before running himself out. It was very pleasing to bat for the full 85 overs.

On day two, 289 was always going to be enough for victory although the early bowling was very wayward on a quite warm afternoon. It was well after tea before Ercelenk finished the job by taking 5 for 21. Mention should also be made of a sensational catch by Leong in the gully to dismiss Canterbury's top scorer.

A victory that kept us on top of the table but demonstrated that consistency throughout the bowling line up would have to be worked for.

VS LINDFIELD 7 for 223 defeated Lindfield 9 declared for 222

Lost the toss and Lindfield batted on a well prepared Macquarie No. 1 wicket. At the end of the day's play Lindfield were 7 for 222, slow progress for 85 overs. However, our bowlers bowled straight and Lindfield showed good application in compiling their score. Our cause was not helped by poor catching.

Week 2 saw a rain affected wicket. After a short delay Lindfield batted on and lost 2 wickets for 0 runs. Ramsland was the pick of the bowlers with 5 for 48 and was well supported by Brien with 3 for 43.

The target 223 for victory was a challenge and a good test of our credentials as competition leaders. The Lindfield bowlers were able to extract response from the wicket throughout the afternoon's play. A disastrous start saw us 2 for 8 and at 5 for 89 the situation was not good. Also at the time Craig Anderson had retired hurt with severe leg cramps. A partnership of 58 between Ramsland (43) and Byrne (22) turned the game. The concentration and discipline displayed by these two players was excellent. With the fall of Byrne's wicket at 147, Anderson returned to the crease and proceeded to plunder a Lindfield attack which became increasingly dispirited as the afternoon went on.

Craig finished with 93 not out, including 59 of the 76 runs needed for victory after Sam Byrne was dismissed.

In this game Macquarie played with all of the playing conditions in the opposition's favour yet went on to register a comprehensive victory. This game, more than any other, cemented the team's confidence and belief that they were capable of defeating any opposition.

VS LANE COVE 91 and 7/158 defeated Lane Cove 58 and 7/100

Played away at Tantallon Oval, a short journey up Epping Road. Arrived to find a wicket that had been well prepared, soft due to overnight rain.

The captains agreed to play and I unfortunately lost the toss and we were invited to bat. On a wicket where 150 would have been a good score we managed only 91. Patterson with 26 and Butler with 22 were the main contributors.

We therefore had 1 hour and 50 minutes to stumps to attack Lane Cove under equal conditions. In that time the team was privileged to witness a significant piece of Macquarie University Cricket Club history. Barry Brien bowled quickly and at the stumps under helpful conditions returning the amazing analysis of 12.2 over, 6 maidens, 8 wickets for 8 runs. The best bowling analysis in the Club's history! Lane Cove were all out for 58. We batted for 2 overs to be 0 for 6 at stumps.

The second Saturday was warm and a good wicket had been prepared even if it was on the opposite side of the square to the one we had played on the previous week. Under instructions to have a go, the team enjoyed itself with a declaration made at tea with the score 7 for 158.

Mahoney top scored with a flashy 64 taking full advantage of the generosity of the Lane Cove fieldsmen who dropped numerous catches.

Lane Cove, therefore, required 202 to win outright. They made no attempt to chase the runs and the game fizzled out. Ercelenk was the best of the bowlers, totally confusing the Lane Cove batsmen to return 4 for 38. In hindsight my declaration was too conservative.

This match will be remembered by all those who played in it for Barry Brien's great bowling.

#### VS PENNANT HILLS 366 defeated Pennant Hills 126

This game was transferred from Macquarie to Pennant Hills' synthetic wicket after the Pennant Hills' groundsmen wrecked their main ground by poisoning all the grass.

Won the toss on what was one of the hottest days of the season and had no hesitation in batting.

Pennant Hills were despondent when they took the field, at 7.05 p.m. when they took our 10th wicket in the 85th over with the score at 366 they were devastated.

This was easily the highest score ever in the D Grade beating the 289 scored against Canterbury earlier in the season. It was also the second highest score by any team in the Club's history. There were 4 record D Grade partnerships during the innings; 2nd wicket 85 Jones and Mahoney, 3rd wicket 90 Mahoney and Patterson, 4th wicket 85 Patterson and Hobbs, 7th wicket 79 Ramsland and Byrne. Scores were made by Mahoney (77), Patterson (66), Jones (50) in his comeback from retirement, Ramsland (42), Hobbs (40) and Byrne (35). The only item missing was a century.

Week 2 was played in light drizzle for most of the afternoon. Victory was always certain and Pennant Hills were dismissed for 126. The highlight being Mark Warren's wonderful return of 7 for 39 from 20.1 overs. Mark, who came to the club as a batsman, thoroughly deserved his success given all the hard work he puts into every match.

Another comprehensive victory.

### VS BAULKHAM HILLS 7/249 defeated Baulkham Hills 76 and 9/75

Won the toss and batted on a hard Macquarie North wicket. A very poor session saw us 6 for 97 at tea and the captain furious with the lack of application shown by all batsmen.

The message was absorbed during the team chat and debut player David Chin, selected as wicket-keeper, played soundly for 20 before being dismissed to leave us 7 for 131. Steve Jurd came to the wicket and in combination with Mark Ramsland they both played their best innings of the season. The slump had been reversed and at stumps we were 7 for 222. Continued batting on day 2 and declared at 7 for 249. Ramsland finished with 73 and Jurd 51, both undefeated for a record D Grade partnership of 118. Unfortunately the captain did not realise that they were only 1 run short of the Club 8th wicket partnership record and thus denied them a chance at a little piece of history.

Baulkham Hills were totally inadequate against our bowling being dismissed for 76 in their 1st innings. Ramsland bowled intelligently and finished with the excellent analysis of 7 for 31, being denied 8 wickets only because Baulkham Hills were 1 short.

Enforced the follow on and missed outright victory by one wicket with a very difficult chance going down in the 2nd last over. Warren continued his good form taking 6 for 35. New player Darren Welsby showed promise bowling steadily to take 1 for 14.

Again in hindsight, my declaration was too conservative. However, one cannot prejudge the strength of an opponent's batting.

#### VS WARRINGAH 6/118 and 2/35 defeated Warringah 117 and 104

In this the first game after Christmas, journeyed to Weldon to play Warringah who were placed 3rd on the table and seen to be a threat. Lost the toss and was asked to bowl on a warm day. The Weldon wicket was hard and bouncy and used well by all our bowlers. Ramsland took the new ball and bowled 23 overs unchanged to return 4 for 27. Special mention to Steve Jurd who was manufactured as an opening bowler for this match and took the first 2 wickets to finish with 2 for 36. Batted well in the time remaining until stumps to be 2 for 73 overnight with Hort in his second match since returning from injury unbeaten on 31.

A wet week saw the wicket on day 2 offer plenty of assistance to the bowlers. Scored the 45 required for victory losing 4 wickets. Dave Folkard playing his first match for the season following injury held things together with 33.

Warringah had a go in their second innings in an attempt to set us a target however, they were unable to counter the fine inswing bowling of Welsby who finished with 7 for 30 from 19.1 overs. A remarkable performance considering this was only Darren's 2nd game of competition cricket.

We had no chance of scoring the 104 needed for outright victory in the 8 overs remaining. Batted out time to finish with 2 for 35. A good win in the circumstances against a bowling attack that was easily the best we faced all season. However, we did feel that should we meet again, our bowling had the measure of Warringah's batting line up.

### VS BEXLEY 5/238 defeated Bexley 184

Travelled to Brighton to play 4th placed Bexley. Lost the toss and again asked to bowl on a stiflingly hot day.

Shortly before tea we were struggling with the opposition 2 for 87, however, Brien returned for a second spell and took a couple of wickets. Ercelenk also got one and Bexley slumped to 5 for 89 at tea. After tea we dropped catches all over the field and Bexley took advantage before being all out for 184. Brien was best of the bowlers with 5 for 32 from 25 overs, good support from Ercelenk with 2 for 65 from 21 overs.

Batted for several overs in the gloom before a thunder storm ended play; 0 for 10 at stumps.

Day 2 was again hot, victory was achieved with the loss of only two wickets. Jones and Folkard (43) put on a whirlwind 70 for the 1st wicket. Jones and Mahoney (39) then continued to put on a partnership of 91 which was a D Grade record for the 2nd wicket. Batted on after taking the points. Jones was finally dismissed to a tired shot for a fine 95, 5 short of his maiden century in any standard of cricket. With well over an hour to go the Bexley team reduced proceedings to a joke and we decided to call it a day.

Bexley's position on the table remains a mystery given their mediocre bowling and appalling lack of discipline in the field.

#### VS BURWOOD 8/303 drew with Burwood 3/44

The first day of this fixture was washed out and we therefore played a limited-over match on day 2. Burwood at this stage of the season were running 2nd and a good contest was expected.

Won the toss and elected to bat on a very warm morning. The Macquarie No 1 wicket played well from the outset. Jones (25) was dismissed with the score on 52 in the 11th over. Mahoney joined Hort and the runs flowed. Hort posted his century in the over before lunch, a fine achievement. The score at lunch stood at 1 for 188. After lunch the score mounted with the 200 partnership being achieved before Hort was eventually dismissed for 131 with the score 258.

It was my privilege to share in a Club record stand of 206 with Bruce, my own contribution being 94 before being caught on the cover boundary seeking three figures. This was the Club's first 200 run stand and was indeed a very special moment.

The rest of the batting line up showed little application and saw us lose wickets rapidly to finish with 8 for 303 at the end of 60 overs. I firmly believe that had this been a 2 day game a score well in excess of 400 would have been possible.

Burwood made no attempt to chase the target and were 3 for 44 after 22.3 overs when a thunderstorm deluged the ground. The wicket was hastily covered with the recently purchased cover. One and a half hours later the cover was removed to reveal a perfect wicket except for one wet patch to one side half-way down the wicket and about 2 feet round. There was some surface water on the outfield.

The Burwood team refused to go back on the field on the basis that the wicket was unfit for play. The decision was the height of hypocrisy in view of the events of the final some weeks later.

From our point of view it was unfortunate that we had so comprehensively outplayed Burwood and were thus unable to accept them as serious premiership contenders.

Over the past 3 rounds we had played the teams running 2nd, 3rd and 4th and outplayed all of them.

### VS WENTWORTHVILLE 7/101 defeated Wentworthville 77 and 6/59

A game that had to be played whilst waiting for the semi-finals to come round. Reduced from 2 days to a limited-over 1 day match. Wentworthville won the toss and elected to bat on a good Macquarie North wicket. We bowled well and fielded very well. Wenty were dismissed for 77, Ercelenk was unplayable and finished with 5 for 17. Batted with a lack of concentration losing 5 wickets achieving victory. Hort continued his good form with 40. Built a small lead and declared at tea. Wenty at one point were 6 for 38, an effective lead of only 14. We were unable to get any more wickets. Ercelenk again bowled well taking 3 for 20 including the wicket of the Wenty captain with the best ball bowled all season.

Played the full day including 20 overs in the last hour to help us become conditioned to the hours to be played in the semi-final and final. A satisfying victory from the viewpoint of those players who had played D Grade the previous season given Wenty were the defending premiers and thrashed us last year.

#### VS EPPING 1/60 drew with Epping 122

With the minor premiership secure after the Wentworthville game the incentive for this match was to remain undefeated.

Epping won the toss and elected to bat on a hard Epping Oval wicket. They were dismissed for 122 with Ramsland, Ercelenk and Welsby each taking 3 wickets.

In the 70 minutes before stumps we were untroubled to score 1 for 60. The second day was washed out.

Finished as undefeated minor premiers, a first for Macquarie.

On to the Semi-Final!

#### SEMI-FINAL 5/101 defeated Warringah 99

The semi-final and final were to be played on Saturday/Sunday with the hours being 10.00am to 5.30pm; a lot more cricket than we were accustomed to.

As minor premiers we had the choice of grounds and elected to play on Macquarie No. 1.

Saturday's play was washed out. Started on time on Sunday. Won the toss and had no hesitation in sending Warringah in to bat. After half an hour's play it started to rain, resumed for 1 ball 15 minutes later and then more rain. Eventually, went back on at 11.56am.

Warringah's young batsmen appeared to have no plan of attack and at no point endeavoured to force the pace. They lost wickets regularly and were dismissed for 99. Only 3 bowlers were used, Ramsland bowled unchanged for 23 overs and took 6 for 53. Brien took 1 for 40 from 21 overs. Ercelenk cleaned up the tail and finished with 2 for 5. There was one run-out.

Batting was not convincing, achieving the target with the loss of 5 wickets, after being 4 for 48 at one stage. Folkard held the middle order together and top scored with 27.

We had thus beaten what we all thought to be our most dangerous opposition. However, the winning of the toss had played a large part in our victory, more to the point, it was almost impossible for Warringah to win. It must be said that the wicket assisted all bowlers throughout the day's play. Warringah appeared to approach their batting with the attitude that they could not win. A warning was apparent for all of us regarding attitude in the event of batting first on a wet or responsive wicket.

On to the final.

### FINAL 39 lost to Burwood 4/40

The facts: Day 1 was washed out with Macquarie No. 1 under water. On Day 2 play started at 2.00pm, we lost the toss and were put in to bat. We were dismissed for 39 from 32.2 overs. Burwood scored 40 for the loss of 4 wickets off 21.4 overs with 8 balls remaining in the match.

Burwood premiers, Macquarie shattered.

One must ask how this travesty came about. Following the events of the semi-final where the result was determined by the toss of the coin I was determined that this would not happen in the final. Therefore, the wicket was covered from Tuesday night onward. It poured from Wednesday for 3 days, hence the ground being under water on Saturday.

Let me introduce the players in the high farce that followed: Bob Lawton, Executive Officer of Macquarie University Sports Association; Michael Lowe, Groundsman charged with responsibility of Head Groundsman following the resignation of former Head Groundsman, Charlie Seaton on the Friday before the final; Ken Waulk and Lance Brooks, Umpires; Aldo Contori, Burwood Captain and, of course, myself.

On Saturday all sport at Macquarie University Sportsfields, including football, was abandoned by Bob Lawton, not an unreasonable decision, it really was that wet.

Early on Sunday morning the grounds were inspected by Mr. Lawton and it was determined that they were fit for play and in particular an attempt should be made to prepare the No. 1 ground for cricket. This decision was made on Mr. Lawton's 'impresssion' that the cricketers were keen to play. None of our team saw Mr. Lawton on the Sunday so I have no idea how that impression was formed. Exit Mr. Lawton and enter Michael Lowe.

Covers removed Sunday, not surprisingly they have leaked. Outfield is under water, the wicket square is a bog. Michael, in later discussions reveals that he would 'not have got away with' not preparing a wicket, obviously felt the pressure exerted by the Burwood team who arrived well before we did. He prepares a pitch using the light roller. The Burwood team used Macquarie University Cricket Club equipment on Michael's permission to remove surface water from the immediate vicinity of the square. Michael forgets to remove the soccer goal posts from the ground. He is unable to place the 2nd sightscreen on the ground from the main oval for fear of the tractor getting bogged.

Yes, it was that wet!

Hands over ground to Umpires at 1.30pm. It's a shame the former Head Groundsman resigned when he did. I firmly believe that things may have been a little different had he stayed a couple more days. Experience cannot be replaced. In any event Rule 24 (3) was not complied with, that is, the pitch was NOT prepared to the best possible standard prior to the commencement of play.

Exit Michael Lowe, enter Umpires.

Messrs Brooks and Wauk were given the ground at 1.30pm and decreed that play should start at 2.00pm. Their only criteria for the commencement of play, I was informed, was that the pitch and ground were not dangerous. I was not consulted as to my views on the matter in accordance with rule 3.8 of the Laws of Cricket. Mr. Wauk has umpired 1st grade for many years, Mr. Brooks is apparently a promising 2nd grade umpire. I must say that they would not have compelled 1st and 2nd grade cricketers to play in the conditions we were forced to play under. The attitude could best be described as condescending.

It is also interesting to note that the Burwood youngster who played without spikes was not reported in accordance with the rules, a lack of knowledge perhaps? Also the threat to warn me for changing the field I found puzzling.

My only comment with respect to the Burwood Captain and his team is in regard to their total hyprocrisy displayed in their enthusiasm to play in comparison with their refusal to resume play following rain in our Round 11 match.

To my involvement; throughout the farce on April 1 (how apt a date) I had presumed that the people who guided the destiny of the final would behave in a sensible manner, as described, such was not the case. The obvious lesson is to be forceful and heard in presenting one's views and not presume anything.

Finally, to the team's attitude, not one of us expected to play on the Sunday and that was reflected to some extent in our batting. Three of us (myself, Anderson and Ramsland) threw our wicket away. The other 7 fell victim to the state of the pitch. A score of 39 is virtually impossible to defend, however, luck was not with us and Mutlu just failed to grab two catches that may have changed things. As Captain one contemplates the myriad things that may have been done differently during the afternoon however, none of us were sufficiently tuned in to the job at hand. The lesson; don't relax until the job has been finished.

In conclusion, I would say that our loss had nothing to do with cricketing ability. Burwood have the silverware, we all know which team was the best in the competition.

#### "D" SHIRES STATISTICS 1989-90

#### BATTING AVERAGES

						TOTAL		
BA	TSMAN	MATCHES	INNINGS	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGES	CATCHES
c.	Anderson	7	6	1	93x	188	37.60	3
В.	Hort	7	8	1	131	260	37.14	3
M.	Ramsland	12	11	4	73x	256	36.57	1
A.	Mahoney	14	16	2	94	467	33.35	6
S.	Byrne	4	4	-	60	118	29.50	3
B.	Jones	7	7	- 1	95	206	29.42	5
G.	Hobbs	10	10	3	40	165	23.57	10+3st
D.	Folkard	7	7	1	43	112	18.66	4
S.	Jurd	11	9	3	51x	110	18.33	4
M.	Patterso	n 7	8	_	66	140	17.50	3

### ALSO BATTED (LESS THAN 100 RUNS)

G.	McFadden	1	1	_	81	81	81.00	1
R.	Carney	1	1	-	67	67	67.00	_
D.	Chin	2	2	1	20	24	24.00	5+1st
C.	Ninopolou	s 3	3	_	61	68	22.66	5
	Wiblin	3	1	_	19	19	19.00	2
D.	Butler	8	8	2	46	88	14.66	4
P.	Leong	5	6	_	21	72	12.00	6
Μ.	Ercelenk	11	8	3	21x	53	10.60	1
Μ.	Denlow	3	4	_	14	33	8.25	3
В.	Read	2	3	1	6x	10	5.00	4
Μ.	Morris	1	1	_	5	5	5.00	1
в.	Brien	7	4	2	4x	6	3.00	-
В.	Congreve	2	2	_	4	4	2.00	_
В.	Dunne	1	2	_	3	3	1.50	_
Μ.	Warren	10	4	1	0x	0	0.00	2
D.	Welsby	7	1	1	$x^0$	0	_	3
D.	Baker	1	_	_	_9	_	-	1

### BOWLING AVERAGES

BOWLER	OVERS	MAIDENS	RUNS	WICKETS	10 IN MATCH	5 INN INN	AVERAGE
D. Welsby B. Brien M. Ramsland M. Ercelenk M. Warren S. Jurd		31 48 75 29 34 18	151 206 398 329 338 159	18 22 39 32 28 12		1 2 3 2 2	8.38 9.36 10.20 10.28 12.07 13.25
	ALS	SO BOWLED	(LESS	THAN 10	WICKETS)		
D. Baker S. Byrne B. Read M. Denlow J. Wiblin B. Congreve	21 21.2 16.2 21.3 37 8	6 8 3 6 11	54 51 30 52 75 21	7 5 2 3 3	-	1 - - - -	7.71 10.20 15.00 17.33 25.00

### D SHIRES 1989-90

### BEST PERFORMANCES

Batting Average Batting Aggregate Highest Score Bowling Average	C. Anderson A. Mahoney B. Hort D. Welsby	37.60 467 131 v Burwood 8.38
Bowling Aggregate	M. Ramsland	39
Most Wickets in an Innings	B. Brien	8/8 v Lane Cove
Most Wickets in a Match	B. Brien	9/23 v Lane Cove
Wicket Keeping	G. Hobbs	10ct + 3st
	D. Chin	5ct + 1st
Centuries	B. Hort	131 v Burwood
Highest Team Score	366	v Pennant Hills
Lowest Team Score	39	v Burwood

### RESULTS

Played	14
Won Outright	2
Won 1st Innings	9
Drawn	2
Lost 1st Innings	1
Lost Outright	_
Position in Competition	2nd

TEAM STATISTICS	MACQUARIE	OPPONENTS
Run Scored	2,829	2,007
Wickets Lost	111	178
Average per Wicket	25.45	11.27

### HIGHEST 'D' GRADE PARTNERSHIPS 1989-90

1	WICKE	T	BATSMEN	ī				SCORE	OPPONENT
	1	в.	Jones	(95)	D.	Folkard	(43)	70	Bexley
	2	В.	Hort (	131)	A.	Mahoney	(94)	206	Burwood
	3	Μ.	Patterson	(66)	A.	Mahoney	(77)	90	Pennant Hills
	4	Μ.	Patterson	(66)	G.	Hobbs	(40)	80	Pennant Hills
	5	G.	McFadden	(81)	S.	Byrne	(60)	117	Strathfield
	6	D.	Butler	(46)	R.	Carney	(67)	58	Canterbury
		C.	Anderson	(93x)	Μ.	Ramsland	(43)	58	Lindfield
	7	S.	Byrne	(35)	M.	Ramsland	(42)	79	Pennant Hills
	8	S.	Jurd	(51x)	Μ.	Ramsland	(73x)	) 118x	Baulkham Hills
	9	s.	Jurd	(26)	Μ.	Ercelenk	(21x	34	Canterbury
	10	Μ.	Ercelenk	(19)	Μ.	Ramsland	(30x	35	Auburn

#### TOUR REPORT

"Attention please! This is the first and final call for all passengers booked on Qantas Flight QF1". This is the message that 15 Macquarie players are so desperately waiting to hear. The saving, the planning and the training will all become worthwhile when at 3.45pm on Saturday the 23rd of June a Qantas jet departs for Heathrow. What awaits them is 13 cricket teams all keen to extract a pound of flesh as recompense for the humiliation of last year's Ashes Tour. A list of those teams for a taste of Macquarie a le seagull mince along with the names of the various Macquarie assortments is detailed below.

The Club's renewed interest in touring was largely due to the triumph of the Hawkesbury River Regatta. At the end of the 1987-88 season a dozen or so cricketers took their shorts, stubby holders and sausages on a weekend river cruise. The success of this affair promoted a ground swell for more social games, more end of the season trips and provided the inspiration for a grand event. This vision has slowly taken shape over the past two seasons and has finally been exposed to reveal an itinerary that incorporates 13 games over 28 days.

The question on everybody's lips is "How many games will this team win?" Well, there is no way of answering this question until the tour is over. For a start Macquarie will be playing in unfamiliar surroundings and in quite different conditions. Even if we adjust immediately to the alien environment we are up against an unknown quantity.

For example both Oxford and Worcester are scheduled to play against the visiting Kiwi team this season. At the other end of the spectrum Macquarie will be playing games in Wales which, until last year, is a country one only associated with Rugby, singing and drinking.

To help us prepare for the unknown quantity each player has been subjected to Sunday morning aerobic classes, Ken Dixon's practice sessions and a savage penalty system. To the credit of most players they have persevered with these endurance tests and are now eager to show their wares.

All that remains is to thank, on behalf of the touring squad, both MUSA and the Cricket Club for their guidance, understanding and support. At the same time let me reassure everyone that this troupe will wear the Club Colours with pride and express the goodwill and friendship of our Club and University.

Alan Davies Tour Manager

### MUCC TOUR TEAM

Craig Anderson Ivan Blyth Alan Davies Ken Dixon Craig Edwards Frank Edwards David Folkard Warrick Folkard Greg Hobbs Steve Jurd Col Kendall Stephen Le Bas Paul Notaras Steve O'Reilly Mark Shaafsma Shane Vella Ian Wright

### FIXTURE DETAILS OF THE 1990 U.K. TOUR

DATE	OPPONENTS
JUNE 25	Leicester University
28	Birmingham University
30	Oxford University
JULY	Ougusta Victorial Land (Gentla)
2	Oxford University (Cont'd)
3	Reading University
4	Banbury Cricket Club
6	Shropshire Gents
8	Old Ellesmerians
9	Shifnal Cricket Club
11	Worcester City Cricket Club
13	Llawelli Cricket Club
16	Gorseinon Cricket Club
17	Gowerton Cricket Club
20	Cardiff County Cricket Club

### RECORDS

### THIRD GRADE

					IIII(D \	OKADII					
LEADING BATSMA		GETTERS YEARS	MT.	TNN.	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGE	100's	50's	0's
C. Well A. Mah A. Mon J. Gui C. Gol A. Lin G. Leg P. Jir B. Jon	sby oney aghan ffre d dsay o man es	1979-85 1979-85 1981-83 1979-82 1979-85 1982-84 1979-82 1979-83 1980-85 1983-85	52 64 25 37 68 28 38 20 21 21	64 76 28 39 68 33 47 25 24 23	3 2 3 3 8 4 6 2 2	108 123 189 108 78 76 49 76 80 72x	1,513 1,242 1,011 924 805 732 728 684 570 550	24.80 16.78 40.44 25.57 13.41 25.24 17.76 29.73	1 1 3 1	5 3 1 4 2 4 - 3 4 3	5 7 1 4 10 2 1 - 1 2
	T RUNS	S IN A SEA	ASON			77	71			1982-8	33
189 150: 137 123 108 108	TURIES	S FOR	A. I A. I J. (	Monagl Monagl Monagl Mahon Giuff: Welsby	han han ey re	Ma Ur Pe Pe	almain anly ni of N etersha enrith etersha	am	•	1982-8 1982-8 1982-8 1984-8 1979-8 1983-8	33 33 35 30
LEADING	WICKI	ET TAKERS							5IN 10	OIN	

## Ī

ВО	WILER	YEARS	MT.	OVERS	MDS	RUNS	WKTS	AVERAGE		MATCH	BEST
L.	Ager	1979-85	60	1,123.4	292	2,816	143	19.69	6	_	6/30
J.	Steenkamp	1979-84	60	622.1	140	1,790	85	21.05	2	_	5/40
M.	Denny	1980-83	45	691.3	181	1,702	84	20.26	3	-	5/18
G.	Craighead	1979-85	32	587.5	146	1,645	77	21.36	4	_	5/25
C.	Gold	1979-85	68	445.1	126	1,085	70	15.50	3	1	7/25
Α.	Lindsay	1982-84	28	381.1	73	1,174	69	17.01	3	-	6/60
B.,	King	1982-85	30	494.4	120	1,385	66	20.98	1	-	5/78

### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

L. Ager 45 1979-80

### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

C. Gold 10/58 Waverley 1981-82

#### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

C. Gold

7/25

Waverley 1981-82

### FIELDING STATISTICS

#### MOST DISMISSALS

FIELDER	YRS	MT.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
C. Gold	1979-85	68	51	3	54
P. Dignan	1981-82	15	37	3	40
P. Jirman	1979-83	20	23	5	28

#### MOST DISMISSALS IN A SEASON

P. Dignan 1981-82 15 37 3 40

### MOST MATCHES IN THIRD GRADE

C. Gold 68
A. Mahoney 64 60 L. Ager C. Welsby 52

#### TEAM STATISTICS

YEARS OF COMPETITION 1979 - 1985

#### PREMIERSHIPS

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

9/330	Balmain	1982-83
8/318	Gordon	1983-84
7/309	Petersham	1983-84

#### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

1980-81 36 Penrith

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS THIRD GRADE

WICKET		В	ATS	SMEN				RUNS	OPPONE	NT
1 2		Jones Welsby	(	73) 68)		Dignan Jirman	(54) (76)	124 125	Balmain Sydney	1981-82 1980-82
3	A.	Monaghan	•	150x)	W.	Folkard	(35)	194	Manly	1982-83 1982-83
<b>4</b> 5	J.	Monaghan Giuffre	(	89)		Folkard	(17)	94 108	Balmain Manly	1981-82
6 7		Giuffre Lindsay	(	51) 69)		Dignan Scotter	(32) (18)	68 83	Mosman Manly	1980-81 1983-84
8 9		Gold Denny	(	78) 32)	P. A.	Walker Lindsay	(45x) (31x)		Gordon W.Suburbs	1983-84 1982-83
10	Μ.	Leslie	(	20x)	J.	Steenkamp	(31x)	55x	Manly	1979-80

### FOURTH GRADE

BATSMAN	YEARS	MT.	INN.	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGE	100's	50's	0's
M. Denlow	1979-85	60	74	1	110	1,579	21.63	1	9	8
P. Garty	1979-85	55	65	6	75	857	14.52	_	2	13
M. Adcock	1979-85	39	50	1	104	847	17.28	1	2	8
A. Mahone	y 1979-85	24	30	1	80	748	25.79	_	5	3
M. Schaaf		28	37	4	81	614	18.60	_	2	2
A. Corish	1980-83	36	39	7	61	562	17.56	_	1	3
C. Gold	1979-85	21	24	2	91	532	24.18		3	3

### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON

C. NCIBDY	C.	Welsby	479	1982-83
-----------	----	--------	-----	---------

### CENTURIES FOR

113	I. Harding	Sydney	1980-81
110	M. Denlow	Uni of NSW	1979-80
105	D. McVey	Balmain	1984-85
104	M. Adcock	Mosman	1982-83
104	S. Baker	N. Sydney	1980-81
102x	P. Cummins	Northern Dist.	1980-81
100x	G. Lego	Sydney	1981-82

### LEADING WICKET TAKERS

BOWLER	YEARS	MT.	OVERS	MDS	RUNS WK	TS AVERAGE	5IN INN		BEST
G. Craighead L. Ager M. Leslie	1982-85	28	620.1	146	1,585	94 16.86	8	_	8/14 8/34 6/74

### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

G. Craighead 59

1981-82

### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

G.	Craighead	11/67	W. Suburbs	1981-82
G.	Craighead	10/79	Manly	1982-83

#### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

G.	Craighead	8/14	W. Suburbs	1981-82
G.	Craighead	8/33	Sydney Uni	1981-82
L.	Ager	8/34	Gordon	1983-84
s.	Wiblin	7/81	Randwick	1980-81
L.	Ager	7/84	Randwick	1984-85

### FIELDING STATISTICS

#### MOST DISMISSALS

FI	ELDER	YRS	MT.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
C.	Garty	1979-85	55	48	8	56
	Kendall	1981-82	12	18	4	22
	Craighead	1979-85	45	22	-	22

### MOST DISMISSALS IN A SEASON

C. Kendall 1981-82 12 18 4 22

### MOST MATCHES IN FOURTH GRADE

Μ.	Denlow	60
P.	Garty	55
G.	Craighead	45

#### TEAM STATISTICS

YEARS OF COMPETITION 1979 - 1985

#### PREMIERSHIPS

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

9/379		Balmain	1981-82
8/316	6	Sydney Uni	1982-83
7/310		Sydney	1981-82
9/300		Petersham	1984-85

### CENTURIES FOR

130x	I.	Blyth	Pennant Hills	1984-85
118x	P.	Notaras	Pennant Hills	1985-86
118	I.	Blyth	Bexley	1986-87
117	P.	Notaras	Baulkham Hills	1989-90
113x	C.	Welsby	Bexley	1981-82
108	G.	Brown	Pennant Hills	1988-89
106x	P.	Bourke	Pennant Hills	1977-78
105	P.	Bourke	Bexley	1977-78
105	G.	Brown	Roseville	1988-89
102x	S.	O'Reilly	Pennant Hills	1989-90
102	P.	Cornock	Lane Cove	1980-81
101x	N.	Castle	Pennant Hills	1975-76
100x	B.	Van Zuylen	Auburn	1980-81
100		Gold	Roseville	1978-79

### LEADING WICKET TAKERS

BO	WLER	YEARS	MT.	OVERS	MDS	RUNS	WKTS	AVERAGE		10IN MATCH	BEST
Р.	Miller	1973-80	70	898.5	187	2,697	175	15.41	7	1	7/25
L.	Ager	1976-87	47	680.4	129	2,067	141	14.65	10	2	8/17
C.	Edwards	1985-	62	774.2	168	2,344	109	21.50	6	_	8/57
G.	Frankish	1973-77	48	488	91	1,599	92	17.38	2	_	7/39
	Folkard	1978-	73	684.4	129	2,102	81	25.95	3	-	6/41
S.	Wiblin	1975-86	57	501	72	1,910	78	24.48	3	-	8/71
	Lockett	1984-	51	557.4	117	1,638	69	23.73	2	_	9/38
В.	Clifton	1973-75	29	285.4	47	923	58	15.91	_	_	4/17
G.	Brown	1987-	22	235.3	41	698	50	13.96	5	-	7/58

### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

L. Ager

55

1976-77

### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

P.	Miller	12/46	Warringah	1978-79
L.	Ager	12/90	Roseville	1976-77
L.	Ager	10/38	Warringah	1977-78

### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

39

Bankstown 1984-85

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS FOURTH GRADE

WICKET	В	ATSMEN		RUNS	OPPONENT	
3 G 4 G 5 P 6 D	Lego Lego Blues Cummins McVey Lindsay Corish	(100x) A (67) A (45) E (102x) A (105) E (47) A (46) G	3. Jones 4. Mahoney 5. Wonaghan 6. Wickham 6. Liuzzo 7. Walker 6. Corish 6. McFadden 7. Geraghty	(38) 163 (74) 127 (91) 122 (53x) 100 (55x) 167x (45) 109 (61) 116 (50x) 67 (55) 98	U.NSW Sydney Sutherland U.NSW Nth.Dist Balmain Penrith Balmain Gordon	1979-80 1981-82 1981-82 1979-80 1980-81 1984-85 1981-82 1981-82 1983-84
10 S	. Wiblin	(41) A	. Corish	(17x) 61	Sutherland	1982-83

### A SHIRES

### LEADING RUN GETTERS

BATSMAN	YEARS	MT.	INN.	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGE	100's	50 s	0 s
I. Blyth	1981-	81	85	2	130x	2,062	24.84	2	11	9
M.G. Denlow	1973-80	65	80	8	91	1,659	23.04	_	9	9
S. O'Reilly	1985-	60	59	8	102x	1,504	29.49	1	9	6
G. Frankish	1973-77	48	61	12	93x	1,212	24.73	_	6	5
C. Welsby	1977-	45	51	3.	113x	1,166	24.29	1	5	3
J. Guiffre	1973-79	43	47	4	89	1,160	26.97	_	7	- 5
W. Folkard	1978-	73	69	10	70x	1,073	18.18	-	2	12
N. Castle	1975-79	38	48	7	101x	1,020	24.87	1	4	4
G. Lego	1985-	50	50	2	86	993	20.68	-	5	5
M. Denlow	1974-	47	55	2	55	967	18.24	-	2	4
B. Congreve	1982-	36	45	1 -	85	944	21.45	-	6	5
K. Dixon	1986-	44	41	10	90	795	25.64	-	4	3
C. Kendall	1981-	36	37	2	78	761	21.74	_	7	4
R. Scott	1973-80	37	41	3	67	750	19.73	-	2	2
P. Miller	1973-83	70	68	11	78	746	13.08	_	1	12
C. Edwards	1985-	62	48	13	58	704	20.11	_	2	5

### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON

I. Blyth

509

1986-87

### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

L.	Ager	8/17	Roseville	1976-77
C.	Edwards	8/57	Lane Cove	1989-90
s.	Wiblin	8/71	Burwood	1978-79
P.	Miller	7/25	Warringah	1978-79
T.	Lockett	7/38	Bexley	1988-89
G.	Frankish	7/39	Epping	1975-76
Μ.	Buzacott	7/43	Warringah	1981-82
G.	Frankish	7/46	Pennant Hills	1975-76
Р.	Miller	7/58	Lindfield	1975-76
G.	Brown	7/58	Lindfield	1988-89

### HAT TRICKS

S.	Wiblin	Roseville	1975-76
Μ.	Buzacott	Warringah	1981-82

### FIELDING STATISTICS

### MOST DISMISSALS

FI	ELDER	YRS	MT.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
P. S. G. I. W. P. S. C. C.	Lego	1973-79 1986- 1985- 1985- 1981- 1978- 1979-86 1973-83 1975-86 1981- 1977-	59 44 60 50 81 73 33 70 57 36 45 62	97 67 29 28 27 26 23 25 22 18 20 20	5 12 - - - 2 - 2	102 79 29 28 27 26 25 25 22 20 20
MO:	ST DISMISSALS Faulks Lenard			26 22	- 4	26 26

### MOST MATCHES IN 'A' SHIRES

I.	Blyth	81
W.	Folkard	73
P.	Miller	70
M. 0	G. Denlow	65
C.	Edwards	62
S.	O'Reilly	60
A.	Faulks	59
S.	Wiblin	57
T.	Lockett	51
G.	Lego	50

### TEAM STATISTICS

YEARS OF COMPETITION

1973 -

PREMIERSHIPS

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

9/355

Roseville

1979-80

### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

48

Warringah 1981-82

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS 'A' SHIRES

1	WICK	ET BATSM	en		RUNS	OPPONENT	
	1	G. Brown (108)	G. Lego	(58)	149	Pennant Hills	1988-89
	2	P. Notaras (117)	I. Blyth	(86)	196	Baulkham Hills	1989-90
	3	M.G. Denlow (84)	G. Frankish	(42)	115	Auburn	1973-74
	4	S. O'Reilly (60x)	W. Folkard	(43)	106	Strathfield	1986-87
	5	J. Giuffre (89)	N. Castle	(54)	135	Canterbury	1977-78
	6	P. Miller (78)	M.G. Denlow	(41)	100	Bexley	1974-75
	7	P. Notaras (118x)	B. King	(56)	137	Pennant Hills	1985-86
	8	D. Lewis $(33x)$	S. Wiblin	(46)	84	Lane Cove	1984-85
	9	C. Pedavoli (59)	C. Edwards	(42)	85	Lindfield	1986-87
	10	P. Smith (32x)	D. Baker	(50)	81	Canterbury	1982-83

### B SHIRES

LEADING	RUN	GETTERS
---------	-----	---------

BATSM	IAN	YEARS	MT.	INN.	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGE	100's	50's	0's
C. We	elsby	1976-	<b>7</b> 5	84	7	138x	1,928	25.03	2	10	6
M. De	_	1974-	71	82	4	84	1,431	18.34	_	2	5
S. Bu	rchett	1980-	73	76	11	54	1,234	18.98	_	2	4
	ckham	1975-83	48	55	4	101x	935	18.33	1	1	9
	ues	1973-81	40	42	2	117	920	21.90	1	5	2
A. Pa		1978-	40	39	8	78x	871	28.09	_	4	2
	lcoxon	1979-85	35	45	6	73	720	18.46	-	1	9

### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON

C. Welsby

427

1987-88

### CENTURIES FOR

1 2 0 **	C Wolshy	Strathfield	1987-88
138x	C. Welsby	Scraciirieid	
123x	P. Duck	Lane Cove	1977-78
120	A. Mahoney	Canterbury	1986-87
120	B. Croke	Roseville	1973-74
117	G. Blues	Bexley	1977-78
106	T. Crosby	Lane Cove	1979-80
102	P. Cornock	Canterbury	1979-80
101x	J. Wickham	Bexley	1976-77
100	C. Welsby	Bexley	1977-78
100	G. Lego	Lindfield	1988-89

### LEADING WICKET TAKERS

				DEVDING	MICI	THI THI	CHL				
ВО	WLER	YEARS	MT.	OVERS	MDS	RUNS	WKTS	AVERAGE	5IN INN	10IN MATCH	BEST
М.	Leslie	1975-79	39	516.7	78	1,661	109	15.23	8	2	7/43
В.	Vagg	1973-79	41	503.4	102	1,544	84	18.38	3	_	6/33
A.	Hercus	1975-79	27	359.2	48	1,320	77	17.14	5	-	6/72
Μ.	Wormell	1976-83	36	342.1	63	1,138	66	17.24	2	-	6/43
Α.	Davies	1985~	22	417.2	91	1,086	64	16.96	3	-	6/66
D.	Baker	1978-	31	423.1	76	1,278	62	20.61	2	-	6/64
R.	Najdzion	1985-89	44	450.3	87	1,360	62	21.93	1	-	5/22
D.	Lewis	1973-	27	354.1	61	1,070	57	18.77	2	1	7/25
Μ.	Smith	1987-	29	330.1	41	1,045	55	19.00	4	-	6/42
E.	O'Connor	1975-78	25	212.4	34	711	51	13.94	1	_	8/33

### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

D. Lewis

35

1985-86

### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

	Cole Leslie	11/90 11/107	Epping Wentworthville	1979-80 1975-76
_	Notaras	10/45	Lindfield	1986-87
Μ.	Leslie	10/56	Pennant Hills	1976-77
D.	Lewis	10/56	Pennant Hills	1985-86

### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

C.	Cole	8/29	Epping	1979-80
E.	O'Connor	8/33	Ryde-Balmain	1975-76
G.	Hargreaves	8/34	Roseville	1974-75
S.	Baker	8/64	Roseville	1981-82
D.	Lewis	7/25	Pennant Hills	1985-86
P.	Notaras	7/26	Lindfield	1986-87
K.	Keegan	7/33	Lindfield	1986-87
Μ.	Leslie	7/43	Lane Cove	1978-79
D.	Lewis	7/44	Canterbury	1985-86

### HAT TRICKS

Nil

### FIELDING STATISTICS

### MOST DISMISSALS

FIELDER YRS	MT.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
B. Yeo 1986- S. Burchett 1980- C. Welsby 1976- J. Wickham 1975-84 D. Craig 1983- M. Wormell 1976-83	33 73 75 42 29 48	47 38 34 24 21 23	16 - - 2 -	63 38 34 24 23 23

### MOST DISMISSALS IN A SEASON

B. Yeo 1989-90 10 22 3 2	В.
--------------------------	----

### MOST MATCHES IN "B" SHIRES

C.	Welsby	75
s.	Burchett	73
Μ.	Denlow	71
J.	Wickham	48

### TEAM STATISTICS

YEARS OF COMPETITION

1973 -

PREMIERSHIPS (1) 1978-79

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

9/323	Bexley	1977-78
8/321	Lane Cove	1977-78
321	Canterbury	1978-79
307	Lane Cove	1980-81

### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

26 Bexley 1973-74

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS "B" SHIRES

WICKET		B	ATS	MEN				RUNS	OPPONENT	
1	G.	Lego	(1	00)	Κ.	Wiblin	(79)	175	Lindfield	1988-89
2	G.	Blues	(1	17)	C.	Welsby	(100)	185	Bexley	1977-78
3		Notaras	(	70)	A.	Harrex	(69)	147	Lane Cove	1986-87
4	J.	O'Brien	(	76)	I.	Jessup	(61)	126	Strathfield	1985-86
5	C.	Cohen	(	89)	I.	Jessup	(63)	129	Warringah	1986-87
6	Р.	Duck	(1	23x)	I.	Graham	(39)	134	Lane Cove	1977-78
7	A.	Corish	(	84)		Wormell	(61)	106	Canterbury	1978-79
8	D.	Craig	(	61)	R.	Najdzion	(50)	89	Strathfield	1985-86
9	P.	McCombie	(	78)	Κ.	Keegan	(7x)	78	Bexley	1987-88
10	Α.	Corish	(	47)	Μ.	Leslie	(42x	77	Canterbury	1978-79

### C SHIRES

### LEADING RUN GETTERS

BAT	rsman	YEARS	MT.	INN.	N.O.	H.S.	RUNS	AVERAGE	100's	50's	0"s
	Barclay	1968-79	85	114	7	108	2,087	19.50	1	8	10
	Smith Miller	1969-73 1970-75	39 27	46 31	5 5	109	1,288	31.41 40.77	2	4 5	1
	Alley	1970-73	50	49	2	91	1,040	22.13	_	5	2
J.	Guiffre	1971-73	25	29	4	148	927	37.08	1	6	3
A.	Pavlov	1978-	35	34	7	100x	797	29.51	1	2	1
R.	Porter	1969-73	20	24	7	110	768	45.18	2	5	2
	Redden	1968-73	42	38	5	69	746	22.61	-	4	4
	Congreve	1985-	32	37	3	78	743	21.85	-	3	2
В.	Keast	1978-87	36	38	7	100	729	23.51	1	1	2

### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON

J. Guiffre 547 1972-73

### CENTURIES FOR

155x	P. Miller	Burwood	1971-72
148	J. Guiffre	Burwood	1972-73
131x	P. Miller	U.NSW	1970-71
121	G. Frankish	Lindfield	1972-73
118	P. Oslington	Strathfield	1986-87
110	R. Porter	U.NSW	1972-73
109	P. Smith	Lindfield	1969-70
108	P. Barclay	Pennant Hills	1978-79
103	M. Walsh	Canterbury	1976-77
102x	R. Porter	Epping	1971-72
100x	A. Pavlov	Roseville	1985-86
100x	I. Jessup	Lane Cove	1989-90
100	B. Keast	Roseville	1985-86

### LEADING WICKET TAKERS

BOI	WLER	YEARS	MT.	OVERS	MDS	RIINS	WKTS	AVERAGE	5IN INN	10IN MATCH	BEST
20,				OTALLO	11111	210110	WILLD	22 7 222 122 123	21111	1111011	
F.	Alley	1970-76	50	962.1	172	2,420	240	10.08	16	1	7/29
Μ.	Hall	1976-79	36	430.1	69	1,463	121	12.09	6	1	7/49
M.	Redden	1969-73	42	359.3	52	1,219	118	10.33	4	-	7/73
Ρ.	Miller	1970-75	27	390	118	900	113	7.96	6	3	8/15
L.	Wiblin	1976-79	32	444.5	72	1,409	108	13.05	5	1	7/13
Ρ.	Korbel	1968-77	43	426.2	67	1,412	92	15.35	4	-	6/10
R.	Sims	1975-79	38	392.6	66	1,496	92	16.26	3	-	8/38
D.	Baker	1977-	43	542.1	93	1,667	91	18.31	4	-	6/26
J.	Guiffre	1971-73	25	216.3	42	746	86	8.67	5	1	7/17
Μ.	Prentis	1972-77	48	336.4	55	1,245	86	14.48	-	•••	4/33
J.	Slack	1968-76	38	316.4	38	966	77	12.55	1	-	5/44
R.	Vagg	1968-78	28	339.1	64	1,111	76	14.62	3	-	8/95
G.	Hargreaves	1972-79	44	264.1	36	980	64	15.31	2	-	5/34
Μ.	Cashman	1985-	35	501.1	116	1,348	59	22.84	1	-	5/22

### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

F. Alley

86

1971-72

### TEAM STATISTICS

### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

L.	Wiblin	14/40	Lane Cove 1	1977-78
P.	Miller	12/27	Macquarie Uni 11	1972-73
P.	Miller	11/33	Auburn	1970-71
M.	Hall	11/70	Lane Cove 1	1978-79
J.	Guiffre	11/72	Burwood	1971-72
Μ.	McKershar	11/84	Lindfield	1974-75
F.	Alley	11/115	Epping 1	1972-73
P.	Miller	10/26	Canterbury 11	1971-72
F.	Alley	10/55	Epping 11	1971-72
G.	Amos	10/60	Lane Cove 11	1977-78
D.	Lewis	10/63	Baulkham Hills	1987-88
0.	Aubrey	10/84	Canterbury	1973-74

### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

G.	Amos	8/10	Lane Cove 11	1977-78
	Miller	8/15	Macquarie Uni 11	
	Sims	8/83	Lane Cove 11	1976-77
	McKershar	8/39	Lindfield	1974-75
	Vagg	8/95	Pennant Hils	1968-69
	Sieff	7/10	Lane Cove 11	1978-79
	Miller	7/11	Auburn	1970-71
	Wiblin	7/13	Lane Cove 1	1977-78
	Giuffre	7/17	Wentworthville	1972-73
	Miller	7/25	Lane Cove 11	1972-73
	Wiblin	7/27	Lane Cove 1	1977-78
	Alley	7/29	Lane Cove 11	1975-76
	Najdzion	7/29	Burwood	1985-86
	Sims	7/34	Epping 11	1977-78
	Alley	7/40	Canterbury 1	1971-72
	Hall	7/49	Lindfield	1976-77
	Lewis	7/52	Baulkham Hills	1987-88
	Aitken	7/58	Roseville	1985-86
	Hatton	7/60	Lindfield	1982-83
	Redden	7/73	Epping 1	1968-69
	Vagg	7/77	Manly 11	1968-69
	Pedavoli	7/80	Wentworthville	1988-89
	Wiblin	7/81	Macquarie Uni 11	
ı.	MINITII	1/01	macquarie uni II	17/0-/9

### HAT TRICKS

F.	Alley	Canterbury	11	1971-72
G.	Amos	Lane Cove	11	1977-78
Μ.	Hall	Lane Cove	11	1977-78
A.	Davies	Epping		1987-88

### FIELDING STATISTICS

### MOST DISMISSALS

FIELDER	YRS	MT.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
P. Barclay M. Stevens M. Redden S. Campbell A. Faulks K. Wiblin J. Guiffre D. Moore G. Blues F. Alley B. Jones	1968-79 1972-77 1968-73 1982- 1971-77 1977- 1971-73 1976-79 1972-73 1970-77	85 39 42 27 19 48 25 32 12 50 24	56 44 31 29 26 29 27 21 20 23 20	2 4 - 2 4 - 3 3 -	58 48 31 30 29 27 24 23 23
MOST DISMISSALS	IN A SEAS	SON			
G. Blues	1972-73	12	20	3	23
MOST MATCHES IN	"C" SHIR	ES			
P. Barclay F. Alley K. Wiblin M. Prentis	85 50 48 48			3	

### TEAM STATISTICS C1'S

YEARS OF COMPETIT	CION		- 1979 - 1984 -
PREMIERSHIPS	(3)	1972	- 1972 - 1973 - 1979

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

334	Burwood	1972-73
311	Strathfield	1986-87

### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

13 Lindfield 1983-84

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS 'C' GRADE

WICE	ET		BATSMEN			RUN	S	OPPONENT	
1	P.	Miller	( 49)	P.	Smith	(42)	99	Canterbury 1	1971-72
2	N.	Francis-	-Jones (32x)	G.	Craighead	1(73)	100	Roseville	1982-83
3	J.	Giuffre	(84)	P.	Miller	(61)	120	Wentworthville	1971-72
4	P.	Smith	(94)	R.	Porter	(72)	155	Canterbury 11	1971-72
5	W.	Folkard	(75)	P.	Barclay	(62)	132	Lane Cove 11	1977-78
6	A.	Pavlov	(100x)	В.	Keast	(100)	183	Roseville	1985-86
7	S.	Bateman	(71x)	C.	Hubbard	(16)	98	Roseville	1988-89
8	s.	Bateman	(69)	G.	Hobbs	(56)	111	Pennant Hills	1988-89
9	J.,	Giuffre	(89)	J.	Slack	(63x)	83	Lane Cove	1971-72
10	Μ.	Cashman	(31)	J.	Wiblin	(28x)	52	Roseville	1986-87

### TEAM STATISTICS C11'S

<u>YEARS OF COMPETITION</u> 1972 - 1973 1976 - 1979

#### PREMIERSHIPS

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

324 University of N.S.W. 1972-73

#### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

35 Macquarie University 1 1972-73

### RECORD PARTNERSHIPS "C11" SHIRES

WICKE	T	BA	TSMEN			RUNS	OPPONENT	
1	D.	Jackson	(81)	D.	Moore	(37) 96	Auburn	1976-77
2	В.	Wickham	(42x)	S.	Martin	(52x)100x	Burwood	1978-79
3	D.	Moore	(57)	В.	Keast	(41) 83	Lindfield	1978-79
4	R.	Porter	(110)	D.	McCann	(67) 150	U. NSW 1	1972-73
5	S.	Wiblin	(52x)	A.	Ottley	(24x) 68x	Mac Uni 1	1977-78
6	Μ.	Walsh	(103)	N.	Rountree	(24) 76	Canterbury	1976-77
7	G.	Amos	(40x)	P.	Garty	(34) 65	Lindfield	1977-78
8	G.	Amos	(51x)	P.	Garty	(34) 76	Epping 1	1977-78
9	M.	McKershar	(66)	P.	Jackson	(14) 66	Epping 1	1976-77
10	G.	Hargreaves	(66x)	D.	Sieff	(13) 46	Epping 11	1978-79

Unfortunately, owing to unavailability of score books from seasons 1968-69, 1969-70 and 1970-71, C Grade performances are not completed. Some statistics for those seasons have been found from other sources.

#### D SHIRES

#### LEADING RUN GETTERS

BATSMAN YEARS MTC. INN. N.O. H.S. RUNS AVERAGE 100's 50's 0's

A. Mahoney 1988- 23 29 2 94 704 26.07 - 5 2

#### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON

A. Mahoney 467 1989-90

#### CENTURIES FOR

B. Hort 131 v Burwood 1989-90 C. Cole 102x v Pennant Hills 1988-89 C. Cohen 101 v Strathfield 1986-87

#### LEADING WICKET TAKERS

BOWLER YRS. MTC OVERS MDS RUNS WKTS AV. MATCH INN BEST

J. Wiblin 1985- 30 411.4 75 1,242 68 18.26 - 3 6/58

#### MOST WICKETS IN A SEASON

M. Ramsland 39 1989-90

#### TEN OR MORE WICKETS IN A MATCH

A. Brown 11/41 v Strathfield 1985-86 E. Gunasekera 10/77 v Pennant Hills 1985-86

#### SEVEN OR MORE WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

В.	Brien	8/8	v Lane Cove 1989-90
D.	Welsby	7/30	v Warringah 1989-90
Μ.	Ramsland	7/31	v Baulkham Hills 1989-90
Μ.	Warren	7/39	v Pennant Hills 1989-90
B.	Higgins	7/44	v Canterbury 1987-88
Μ.	Cohen	7/54	v Pennant Hills 1986-87

#### HAT TRICKS

P. Wyllie Wentworthville 1988-89

FIELDING STATISTICS

FIELDER	YRS	MT	СТСН	STP	TOTAL				
G. Hobbs A. Mahoney	1986- 1988-	15 23	15 20	5 -	20 20				
MOST DISMISSALS IN A SEASON									
A. Mahoney	1988-90	9	14		14				

### MOST MATCHES IN 'D' SHIRES

J.	Wiblin	30
A.	Mahoney	23
s.	Bateman	22
Μ.	Gilling	22
R.	Carney	21

### TEAM STATISTICS

YEARS OF COMPETITION 1985 -

### PREMIERSHIPS

### SCORES OF 300 OR MORE IN AN INNINGS

366	Pennant Hills	1989-90
8/303	Burwood	1989-90

### LOWEST TEAM SCORE IN A COMPLETED INNINGS

39 Burwood 1989-90

### RECORD WICKET PARTNERSHIPS 'D' GRADE

WICKET		BATSMEN				RUNS	OPPONENT	
1	T.	Concannon	(38)	J.	McCoy	(28) 77	Strathfield	1985-86
2	В.	Hort	(131)	Α.	Mahoney	(94) 206	Burwood	1989-90
3	M.	Patterson	(66)	A.	Mahoney	(77) 90	Pennant Hills	1989-90
4	Μ.	Patterson	(66)	G.	Hobbs	(40) 80	Pennant Hills	1989-90
5	G.	McFadden	(81)	s.	Byrne	(60) 117	Strathfield	1989-90
6	S.	Bateman	(65)	T.	Barnes	(36) 93	Canterbury	1987-88
7	S.	Byrne	(35)	M.	Ramsland	(42) 79	Pennant Hills	1989-90
8	S.	Jurd	(51x)	Μ.	Ramsland	(73x)118x	Baulkham Hills	1989-90
9	C.	Cole	(32)		Baker		Warringah	1989-90
10	J.	Wiblin	(23x)	T.	Escott	(13) 35	Uni of NSW	1985-86
	M	Ercelenk	(19)	M.	Ramsland	(30x) 35	Auburn	1989-90

### CLUB RECORDS

### LEADING RUN GETTERS

### MOST RUNS IN A SEASON IN ONE GRADE

A.	Monaghan	771	1982-83	Third Grade
C.	Welsby	620	1983-84	Third Grade
J.	Guiffre	547	1972-73	'C' Grade
A.	Lindsay	516	1983-84	Third Grade
I.	Jessup	513	1989-90	'C' Grade
I.	Blyth	509	1986-87	'A' Grade
В.	Congreve	502	1983-84	'A' Grade
Р.	Bourke	500	1977-78	'A' Grade

### CENTURIES FOR (53)

C	ENTURIES FOR	(53)	Cont'd)		
			·		
P	. Oslington	118	Strathfield	'C' Grade	1986-87
	. Notaras	117	Baulkham Hills	'A' Grade	1989-90
	. Blues	117	Bexley	'B' Grade	1977-78
	. Welsby	113x	Bexley	'A' Grade	1981-82
	. Harding	113	Sydney	Fourth Grade	1980-81
M		110	Uni of NSW	Fourth Grade	1979-80
	. Porter	110	Uni of NSW	'C' Grade	1972-73
	. Smith	109	Lindfield	'C' Grade	1969-70
	. Guiffre	108	Penrith	Third Grade	1979-80
_	. Welsby	108	Petersham	Third Grade	1983-84
	. Brown	108	Pennant Hills	"A' Brade	1988-89
	. Barclay	108	Pennant Hills	'C' Grade	1978-79
	. Bourke	106x	Pennant Hills	'A' Grade	1977-78
	. Crosby	106	Lane Cove	'B' Grade	1979-80
	. McVey	105	Balmain	Fourth Grade	1984-85
	. Bourke	105	Bexley	'A' Grade	1977-78
	. Brown	105	Roseville	'A' Grade	1988-89
	. Adcock	104	Mosman	Fourth Grade	1982-83
S	. Baker	104	North Sydney	Fourth Grade	1980-81
	. Walsh	103	Canterbury	'C' Grade	1976-77
P	. Cummins	102x	Nth Districts	Fourth Grade	1980-81
S	. O'Reilly	102x	Pennant Hills	'A' Grade	1989-90
	. Porter	102x	Epping	'C' Grade	1971-72
C	. Cole	102x	Pennant Hills	'D' Grade	1988-89
P	. Cornock	102	Lane Cove	'A' Grade	1980-81
P	. Cornock	102	Canterbury	'B' Grade	1979-80
N	. Castle	101x	Pennant Hills	'A' Grade	1975-76
J	. Wickham	101x	Bexley	'B' Grade	1976-77
C	. Cohen	101	Strathfield	'D' Grade	1986-87
G	. Lego	100x	Sydney	Fourth Grade	1981-82
	. Van Zuylen	100x	Auburn	'A' Grade	1980-81
A	. Pavlov	100x	Roseville	'C' Grade	1985-86
I	. Jessup	100x	Lane Cove	'C' Grade	1989-90
C	. Gold	100	Roseville	'A' Grade	1978-79
C	. Welsby	100	Bexley	'B' Grade	1977-78
G	. Lego	100	Lindfield	'B' Grade	1988-89
В	. Keast	100	Roseville	'C' Grade	1985-86

### RECORD CLUB PARTNERSHIPS

WICKET		BATSMEN					RUNS	OPPONENT G	RADE	SEASON
1	G. B. A. P. P. G. M.	Lego Hort Monaghan Smith Cummins Pavlov Notaras Gold McGinnity Smith	(94) (102x) (100x) (118x) (78) (56)	A. W. R. A. B. P. J.	Wiblin Mahoney Folkard Porter Liuzzo Keast King Walker Geraghty Baker	(79) (94) (35) (72) (55x) (100) (56) (45x) (55) (50)	206 194 155 167x 183	Lindfield Burwood Manly Canterbury 1 Nth District Roseville Pennant Hill Gordon Gordon Canterbury	1 C 4th C s A 3rd	1988-89 1989-90 1982-83 1971-72 1980-81 1985-86 1985-86 1983-84 1983-84 1982-83

	L	EADING W	ICKET	TAKERS	5					
								10 IN	5 TI	a.
BOWLER	YRS.	MTC	<b>OVERS</b>	MDS	RUNS	WKTS	AV.	MATCH		
L. Ager P. Miller	1976-87 1970-83	142 113	2,555 1,471.5	589 356	6,841 4,078	398 309	17.18 13.20		24 13	8/17 8/15
F. Alley	1970-77	63	1,156.1		3,090	278	11.11		1.7	7/29
G. Craighead	1979-85	81	1,442.3		4,164	223			13	8/14
D. Baker	1977-	117	1,361.3		4,869	216	22.54		11	6/26
M. Leslie	1975-82	82	1,044.1	204	3,162	186	17.00		11	7/43
R. Vagg	1968-80	84	1,038.3		3,262	182	17.92		6	8/95
J. Steenkamp	1978-	62	1,059	238	3,032	148	20.48		7	5/24
C. Edwards	1983-	97	1,117.2		3,539	148			6	8/57
S. Wiblin	1975-86	113	1,938.1		3,315	141	23.51	_	3	8/71
P. Korbel M. Hall	1968-77	59	634.2		2,260	134	16.87		5	6/10
M. Hall J. Wiblin	1976-81 1981-	53 83	570.1 989.5	86	1,999	131 130	15.26 23.98		6 4	7/49 6/58
W. Folkard	1976-	153		179	3,118 3,216	129	24.93		4	6/41
A. Davies	1985-	53	839.4		2,275	123	18.49		6	6/23
J. Slack	1968-76	58	472.2	69	1,432	114	12.56		2	5/13
L. Wiblin	1976-79	35	478.5	74	1,520	114	13.33		5	7/13
G. Frankish	1972-79	60	602	120	1,952	112	17.43		2	7/39
J. Guiffre	1971-85	109	323.4	61	1,069	106	10.08	1	6	7/17
A. Hercus	1974-79	38	451.5		1,644	105	15.66	_	7	6/16
R. Aitken	1980-	71	755.5		2,528	103	25.28		5	7/58
C. Gold	1976-85	122	717.4	184	1,881	102	18.44	1	4	7/25
MOCE WITCH	VEMO TN N	CENC	011 TH 011	- an -	D.T.					
MOST WIC.	KETS IN A	SEAS	ON IN ONI	S GRA	DE					
F. Alley			86	1971	-72		'C' Gr	añe		
F. Alley			62	1972		'C' Grade 'C' Grade				
G. Craig			59	1981		Fourth Grade				
P. Mille:			58	1971				ade		
L. Ager			55	1976	-77			ade		

F. G. P.	Alley Alley Craighead Miller Ager	86 62 59 58 55	1971-72 1972-73 1981-82 1971-72 1976-77	'C' Grade 'C' Grade Fourth Grade 'C' Grade 'A' Grade
L.	Ager	55	1976-77	'A'-Grade
Μ.	Redden	50	1969-70	'C' Grade

### MOST WICKETS IN A MATCH

P. P.	Wiblin Miller Miller	14/40 12/27 12/46	Lane Cove 1 Mac Uni 11 Warringah	'C' Grade 'C' Grade 'A' Grade	1977-78 1972-73 1978-79
	Ager Miller	12/90 11/33	Roseville Auburn	'A' Grade 'C' Grade	1976-77
	Brown	11/33	Strathfield	'D' Grade	1970-71 1985-86
G.	Craighead	11/67	Wests	Fourth Grade	1981-82
_	Hall	11/70	Lane Cove 1	'C' Grade	1978-79
J.	Giuffre	11/72	Burwood	'C' Grade	1971-72
Μ.	McKershar	11/84	Lindfield	'C' Grade	1979-80
C.	Cole	11/90	Epping	'B' Grade	1979-80
M.	Leslie	11/107	Wentworthville	'B' Grade	1975-76
F.	Alley	11/115	Epping 1	'C' Grade	1972-73

### MOST WICKETS IN AN INNINGS

в.	Brien	8/8	Lane Cove	'D' Grade	1989-90
G.	Amos	8/10	Lane Cove 1	'C' Grade	1977-78
G.	Craighead	8/14	Western Sub	Fourth Grade	1981-82
	Miller	8/15	Mac Uni 11	'C' Grade	1972-73
L.	Ager	8/17	Roseville	'A' Grade	1976-77
C.	Cole	8/29	Epping	'B' Grade	1979-80
G.	Craighead	8/33	Sydney Uni	Fourth Grade	1981-82
E.	O'Connor	8/33	Ryde-Balmain	'B' Grade	1975-76
L.	Ager	8/34	Gordon	Fourth Grade	1983-84
G.	Hargreaves	8/34	Roseville	'B' Grade	1974-75
R.	Sims	8/38	Lane Cove 11	'C' Grade	1976-77
Μ.	McKershar	8/39	Lindfield	'C' Grade	1974-75
C.	Edwards	8/57	Lane Cove	'A' Grade	1989-90
S.	Baker	8/64	Roseville	'B' Grade	1981-82
S.	Wiblin	8/71	Burwood	'A' Grade	1978-79
R.	Vagg	8/95	Pennant Hills	'C' Grade	1968-69

### FIELDING STATISTICS

FIELDER	YEARS	MTC.	CTCH.	STP.	TOTAL
A. Faulks	1971-78	78	123	9	132
P. Garty	1977-86	124	98	12	110
C. Gold	1976-85	122	93	5	98
P. Lenard	1986-	49	80	14	94
P. Barclay	1968-80	122	81	4	85
B. Yeo	1986-	44	62	17	79
A. Mahoney	1977-	186	73	1	74
B. Jones	1976-	116	66	6	72
C. Welsby	1976-	188	68	_	68
G. Blues	1972-81	100	60	4	64
W. Folkard	1976-	153	62	_	62
S. Campbell	1982-	79	56	4	60
S. Burchett	1980-	117	57	1	58
M. Stevens	1972-81	46	51	6	57
M. Denlow	1974-	214	55		55
G. Lego	1979-	112	52	_	52
J. Guiffre	1971-85	108	53	_	53
A. Pavlov	1977-	146	51	_	51
J. Wickham	1975-84	94	50	-	50

### MOST DISMISSALS IN A SEASON IN ONE GRADE

Р.	Dignan	(3rd	Grade)	1981-82	15	37	3	40
т.	Dignan	( JI U	draac,	1501 02	1 -	J /	_	

### MOST GAMES PLAYED FOR CLUB

	THIRD	FOURTH	A	В	C	D	TOTAL
Denlow	25	60	47	71	8	3	214
Welsby	52				-	-	188
Mahoney	64	24				23	186
Folkard		20				_	153
Pavlov					35	-	146
Ager					-	-	142
Garty	7					_	124
Barclay					89	-	122
Gold						_	122
Blyth	12	20			-	-	117
		7. <del></del>					117
Baker							117
Jones						8	116
				1		-	113
Wiblin						1	113
Lego						-	112
	37	3				_	109
	-	-				12	102
	-					-	100
						_	97
					21	9	96
	4	17				-	94
	-	_				-	94
					3		94
	26	28			_		93
		-					88
Congreve					4		88
O'Reilly	21	2	60	1	-	3	87
	Welsby Mahoney Folkard Pavlov Ager Garty Barclay Gold Blyth Burchett Baker Jones Miller Wiblin Lego Guiffre Wiblin Blues Edwards Anderson Wickham Hargreaves Adcock Schaafsma Keast	Denlow       25         Welsby       52         Mahoney       64         Folkard       18         Pavlov       8         Ager       60         Garty       7         Barclay       -         Gold       68         Blyth       12         Burchett       -         Baker       -         Jones       21         Miller       14         Wiblin       25         Lego       38         Guiffre       37         Wiblin       -         Blues       -         Edwards       31         Anderson       3         Wickham       4         Hargreaves       -         Adcock       33         Schaafsma       26         Keast       -         Congreve       6	Denlow       25       60         Welsby       52       16         Mahoney       64       24         Folkard       18       20         Pavlov       8       31         Ager       60       28         Garty       7       55         Barclay       -       2         Gold       68       21         Blyth       12       20         Burchett       -       -         Baker       -       3         Jones       21       21         Miller       14       2         Wiblin       -       -         Blues       -       15         Edwards       31       1         Anderson       3       7         Wickham       4       17         Hargreaves       -       -         Adcock       33       39         Schaafsma       26       28         Keast       -       -         Congreve       6       36	Denlow       25       60       47         Welsby       52       16       45         Mahoney       64       24       32         Folkard       18       20       73         Pavlov       8       31       32         Ager       60       28       47         Garty       7       55       33         Barclay       -       2       19         Gold       68       21       18         Blyth       12       20       81         Burchett       -       -       22         Baker       -       34       34         Jones       21       21       27         Miller       14       2       70         Wiblin       25       14       57         Lego       38       7       50         Guiffre       37       3       43         Wiblin       -       -       9         Blues       -       15       33         Edwards       31       1       62         Anderson       3       7       21         Wickham       4 <td< td=""><td>Denlow       25       60       47       71         Welsby       52       16       45       75         Mahoney       64       24       32       29         Folkard       18       20       73       30         Pavlov       8       31       32       40         Ager       60       28       47       7         Garty       7       55       33       6         Barclay       -       2       19       12         Gold       68       21       18       15         Blyth       12       20       81       4         Burchett       -       -       22       73         Baker       -       3       34       31         Jones       21       21       27       15         Miller       14       2       70       1         Wiblin       25       14       57       11         Lego       38       7       50       16         Guiffre       37       3       43       1         Wiblin       -       -       9       33         Blue</td><td>Denlow 25 60 47 71 8 Welsby 52 16 45 75 - Mahoney 64 24 32 29 14 Folkard 18 20 73 30 12 Pavlov 8 31 32 40 35 Ager 60 28 47 7 - Garty 7 55 33 6 23 Barclay - 2 19 12 89 Gold 68 21 18 15 - Blyth 12 20 81 4 - Burchett - 22 73 20 Baker - 3 34 31 43 Jones 21 21 27 15 24 Miller 14 2 70 1 26 Wiblin 25 14 57 11 5 Lego 38 7 50 16 1 Guiffre 37 3 43 1 25 Wiblin - 9 33 48 Blues - 15 33 40 12 Edwards 31 1 62 2 1 Anderson 3 7 21 35 21 Wickham 4 17 25 48 - Hargreaves - 11 24 59 Adcock 33 39 13 6 3 Schaafsma 26 28 19 19 - Keast - 13 36 36 Congreve 6 36 10 32 4</td><td>Denlow 25 60 47 71 8 3 Welsby 52 16 45 75 Mahoney 64 24 32 29 14 23 Folkard 18 20 73 30 12 - Pavlov 8 31 32 40 35 - Ager 60 28 47 7 Garty 7 55 33 6 23 - Barclay - 2 19 12 89 - Gold 68 21 18 15 Blyth 12 20 81 4 Burchett 22 73 20 2 Baker - 3 34 31 43 6 Jones 21 21 27 15 24 8 Miller 14 2 70 1 26 - Wiblin 25 14 57 11 5 1 Lego 38 7 50 16 1 - Wiblin 9 33 48 12 Edwards 31 1 62 2 1 - Anderson 3 7 21 35 21 9 Wickham 4 17 25 48 Hargreaves 11 24 59 - Adcock 33 39 13 6 3 Congreve 6 36 10 32 4</td></td<>	Denlow       25       60       47       71         Welsby       52       16       45       75         Mahoney       64       24       32       29         Folkard       18       20       73       30         Pavlov       8       31       32       40         Ager       60       28       47       7         Garty       7       55       33       6         Barclay       -       2       19       12         Gold       68       21       18       15         Blyth       12       20       81       4         Burchett       -       -       22       73         Baker       -       3       34       31         Jones       21       21       27       15         Miller       14       2       70       1         Wiblin       25       14       57       11         Lego       38       7       50       16         Guiffre       37       3       43       1         Wiblin       -       -       9       33         Blue	Denlow 25 60 47 71 8 Welsby 52 16 45 75 - Mahoney 64 24 32 29 14 Folkard 18 20 73 30 12 Pavlov 8 31 32 40 35 Ager 60 28 47 7 - Garty 7 55 33 6 23 Barclay - 2 19 12 89 Gold 68 21 18 15 - Blyth 12 20 81 4 - Burchett - 22 73 20 Baker - 3 34 31 43 Jones 21 21 27 15 24 Miller 14 2 70 1 26 Wiblin 25 14 57 11 5 Lego 38 7 50 16 1 Guiffre 37 3 43 1 25 Wiblin - 9 33 48 Blues - 15 33 40 12 Edwards 31 1 62 2 1 Anderson 3 7 21 35 21 Wickham 4 17 25 48 - Hargreaves - 11 24 59 Adcock 33 39 13 6 3 Schaafsma 26 28 19 19 - Keast - 13 36 36 Congreve 6 36 10 32 4	Denlow 25 60 47 71 8 3 Welsby 52 16 45 75 Mahoney 64 24 32 29 14 23 Folkard 18 20 73 30 12 - Pavlov 8 31 32 40 35 - Ager 60 28 47 7 Garty 7 55 33 6 23 - Barclay - 2 19 12 89 - Gold 68 21 18 15 Blyth 12 20 81 4 Burchett 22 73 20 2 Baker - 3 34 31 43 6 Jones 21 21 27 15 24 8 Miller 14 2 70 1 26 - Wiblin 25 14 57 11 5 1 Lego 38 7 50 16 1 - Wiblin 9 33 48 12 Edwards 31 1 62 2 1 - Anderson 3 7 21 35 21 9 Wickham 4 17 25 48 Hargreaves 11 24 59 - Adcock 33 39 13 6 3 Congreve 6 36 10 32 4

### CURRENT PLAYERS - 10 GAMES MINIMUM

		MATCHES	RUNS	AV.	WICKETS	AVER.	CAT.	ST.
C.	Anderson	96	1,848	17.27	2	38.0	44	
D.	Baker	117	1,065	11.83	216	22.54	24	
s.	Bateman	47	847	17.65	64	22.16	10	
	Blyth	117	2,744	22.30	9	37.78	35	
	Brien	12	19	3.80	29	12.03	1	
	Brown	33	772	23.39	57	16.00	13	
	Burchett	117	2,062	18.91	0	-	57	1
	Butler	10	93	13.29		-	4	
	Byrne	15	294	24.50	8	16.88	4	
	Carney	29	343	11.43	7	42.14	16	2
	Cashman	60	377	10.47	94	24.52	13	
	Cole	54	786	14.83	67	20.19	10	
	Congreve	88	1,970	21.18	34	30.50	23	
	Davies	53	182	9.10	123	18.49	24	
	Denlow	214	4,605	18.64	22	32.55	55	
Κ.	Dixon	64	1,075	25.00	57	25.05	17	
C.	Edwards	97	942	17.44	148	23.91	34	
Μ.	Ercelenk	20	61	4.69	44	14.34	5	
D.	Folkard	25	511	19.65	9	40.44	8	
W.	Folkard	153	3,046	21.30	129	24.93	62	
Α.	Harrison	25	267	15.71	31	26.19	4	

		CURRENT PLAYERS - 10 GAMES MINIMUM		(Co	(Cont'd)			
		MATCHE	S RUNS	AV.	WICKETS	AVER.	CAT.	ST.
G.	Hobbs	23	418	20.90	-	-	20	7
C.	Hook	32	360	10.00	6	21.83	12	
В.	Hort	15	412	29.43	4	25.75	5	
I.	Jessup	57	1,692	32.54	13	16.77	17	
	Jones	116	2,392	18.25	7	30.00	66	6
S.	Jurd	23	267	12.71	25	14.28	9	
C.	Kendall	56	1,179	19.98	<del></del>	***	42	6
D.	Latto	26	550	19.64	20	19.30	2	
s.	Le Bas	15	230	17.69	14	31.79	3	
G.	Lego	112	2,662	23.76	1	43.00	52	
	Lenard	49	581	21.52	0	_	80	14
H.	Leonard	46	513	12.51	73	25.44	17	
A.	Lindsay	35	933	25.92	70	18.73	10	
T.	Lockett	65	81	5.79	97	21.99	23	
G.	McFadden	10	332	30.18	-	-	4	
Α.	Mahoney	186	4,169	20.33	0	-	73	1
R.	Mather	10	246	27.33	7	9.71	4	
W.	Monger	10	93	7.75	2	19.00	2	
P.	Notaras	27	816	34.00	48	19.50	11	
M.	O'Keefe	11	206	22.89	3	10.00	4	
S.	O'Reilly	87	2,245	28.41	21	38.00	42	
Μ.	Patterso	n 48	897	15.47	7	44.86	10	
A.	Pavlov	146	2,684	22.18	74	26.37	51	
M.	Ramsland	13	256	36.57	39	11.03	1	
T.	Ritchie	12	238	21.64	5	24.80	8	
M.	Smith	31	92	9.20	56	19.39	7	
J.	Steenkam	p 62	228	7.60	148	20.48	10	
Μ.	Warren	21	23	2.09	48	15.90	5	
C.	Welsby	188	5,086	24.69	11	29.36	68	
J.	Wiblin	83	789	12.52	130	23.98	25	
K.	Wiblin	102	1,346	13.07	44	20.48	47	
W.	Yeo	44	467	17.30	***	_	62	17